Searching for Simplicity:

Using Behavioral Science to make Life Insurance Product Information Simple and Effective



August | 2024





Searching for Simplicity:

Using Behavioral Science to make Life Insurance Product Information Simple and Effective

AUTHORS Rosmery Cruz, MSc, Global Association of Applied Behavioral Scientists (GAABS)

Peter Hovard, PhD, GAABS

Shilei Chen, PhD, GAABS

Matthew Battersby, MSc, GAABS

SPONSORS Actuarial Innovation and Technology Strategic Research Program Steering Committee

Marketing & Distribution Section

Product Development Section

Reinsurance Section

Smaller Insurance Company Section

-===

Give us your feedback! Take a short survey on this report.

Click Here



Caveat and Disclaimer

The opinions expressed and conclusions reached by the authors are their own and do not represent any official position or opinion of the Society of Actuaries Research Institute, the Society of Actuaries, or its members. The Society of Actuaries Research Institute makes no representation or warranty to the accuracy of the information.

Copyright © 2024 by the Society of Actuaries Research Institute. All rights reserved.

CONTENTS

Abstract		5
Executive Su	mmary	6
Section 1: Th	e Comprehension Challenge in Life Insurance Journeys	8
Section 2: A	Behavioral Science Lens on Customer Comprehension	10
2.1	Background: Defining Behavioral Science	10
2.2	Behavioral Science and Customer Comprehension	10
2.3	Fast-Thinking Approaches to Comprehension	11
	2.3.1 Make It Easy	12
	2.3.2 Make It Timely	13
	2.3.3 Make It Salient	13
2.4	Slow-Thinking Approaches to Comprehension	13
	2.4.1 Make It Relevant	14
2.5	The Messenger Effect: Using Video and Artificial Intelligence to Enhance Comprehension	14
	2.5.1 The Rise and Power of Video	14
	2.5.2 The Messenger Effect	15
	2.5.3 A New Kind of Digital Messenger: Artificial Intelligence	15
Section 3: Ou	r Approach to Examining Comprehension of Life Insurance Products and their Value	17
3.1	Methodology	17
	3.1.1 Randomized Control Trials	17
	3.1.2 Study Participants	18
	3.1.3 Study Design	18
3.2	Analysis Approach	20
3.3	Sample Size	21
Section 4: Ex	periment 1: Exploring Communication Simplification Techniques throughout the Digital Journe	v22
4.1	Experiment Design	,
4.2	Experiment Participants	23
4.3	Creating a Digital Journey	23
4.4	Fast- and Slow-Thinking Behavioral Approaches Tested	23
	4.4.1 Control Prototype	23
	4.4.2 Make It Easy Prototype	25
	4.4.3 Make It Timely Prototype	26
	4.4.4 Make It Salient Prototype	26
	4.4.5 Make It Relevant Prototype	27
4.5	Results	29
	4.5.1 Primary Analysis	29
	4.5.2 Secondary Analysis	31
4.6	Summary	33
Section 5: Ex	periment 2: Exploring Video, AI, and Messenger Identity for Presenting Product Information	35
5.1	Experiment Design	35
5.2	Experiment Participants	35
5.3	Assessing the Messenger Effect	36
5.4	Creating the Human and AI Videos	36
5.5	Results	37
	5.5.1 Primary Analysis	37
	5.5.2 Secondary Analysis	40
5.6	Summary	43
Section 6: Co	nclusions and Recommendations	44
Section 7: Ac	knowledgments	46

Appendix A	A: Study Design Elements	47
A.1	Comprehension Test	47
A.2	Financial Literacy Test	49
A.3	Manipulation Checks	50
Appendix I	B: Study Participants	51
B.1	Demographic Distributions for Experiment 1	51
B.2	Demographic Distributions for Experiment 2	56
Appendix (C: Analysis	61
C.1	Balance Table for Experiment 1	61
C.2	Balance Tables for Experiment 2	63
References	5	67
About the	Society of Actuaries Research Institute	73

Searching for Simplicity:

Using Behavioral Science to make Life Insurance Product Information Simple and Effective

Abstract

The research presented in this paper provides practical behavioral insights insurers can use to help narrow the customer comprehension gap of life insurance products and creates a direction for future industry research. The research shows that simplifying language and removing friction is not enough to improve comprehension: Increasing the salience of key information and using positive friction techniques has significantly greater impact.

We designed two experiments that recreated the online term life insurance purchase journey, recruiting participants residing in the U.S. The first experiment (N = 2,001) focused on improving comprehension of written messages used in the sales journey, and the second (N = 2,005) tested the impact of using both human- and Algenerated videos. We measured comprehension based on participants' ability to answer questions related to the digital journey.

Our work identified several ways comprehension can be improved utilizing behavioral science:

- Making information simple is necessary, but not sufficient for improving comprehension. Instead, it should be utilized in combination with other behavioral science techniques.
- Making information salient significantly improves overall comprehension of all content by 21%, and it increases to 40% when focusing on comprehension of content exclusively emphasized by techniques such as providing FAQs or attractive icons.
- Making information relevant significantly improves overall comprehension of all content by 28%, and it increases to 59% when focusing on comprehension of content that was presented via premium calculators or when asking more personal questions about beneficiaries.
- Presenting information in video format significantly improves comprehension by an additional 15%, but only when added along with the other behavioral science techniques above.

While our work identified opportunities for insurers to improve customer comprehension, additional work is needed to further narrow the comprehension gap.

Executive Summary

Background

Information about life insurance in sales journeys is too often complex and challenging for customers to understand. This is problematic for the industry, both in terms of growth (if customers cannot comprehend the value or features of insurance products, they may be less likely to purchase) and inclusion of individuals with lower levels of financial literacy.

The proportion of U.S. households covered by life insurance has steadily declined since the 1960s. The 2024 LIMRA Barometer shows that life insurance penetration dropped from 63% in 2011 to 51% in 2024. This trend is concerning for the future health of the individual life insurance industry, as it suggests consumers are failing to see the value that life insurance products offer.

One reason for the long-term and ongoing decline in sales may be the way in which life products are now sold. The rise of direct-to-consumer (D2C) sales promised to disrupt the market, but it is not clear whether D2C sales are as effective at reaching consumers as anticipated. One reason for the lack of success may relate to the complexity of life insurance products, which are often difficult to match to the unique needs of a policyholder without the help of a human sales agent.

The nature and complexity of the product will always be a barrier to life insurance sales. Indeed, if you asked a psychologist to design a product that is difficult to sell, it would look something like life insurance, which requires customers to first consider the consequences of their death, make tradeoffs involving payoffs that are often far in the future, and understand unfamiliar concepts and terminology, all in order to make a purchase decision. However, careful design and better communication with consumers can help bring order to the inherent complexity.

Behavioral science offers a range of solutions proven effective in other contexts that may be applied to improve customer comprehension of life insurance products. An interdisciplinary field that melds insights from areas such as psychology, economics, neuroscience, and sociology, behavioral science helps us understand how individuals process information, and so helps us craft solutions that can optimize how people make decisions. While behavioral science is not new to life insurance, most of its application has focused primarily in other areas such as underwriting. At the time of this report, there is little published research applying behavioral science to product development, despite it being one of the top three areas of interest reported in a recent SOA/SCOR industry survey (Bradfield *et al.*, 2024).

Behavioral scientists have determined a range of techniques that can be useful for improving comprehension of complex information. However, these techniques have not yet been studied extensively in an insurance context. The research presented here brings together evidence-based approaches and evaluates their effectiveness in a life insurance context.

Methods

In the studies presented in this paper, we designed two experiments that simulated online term life insurance purchasing journeys to test how certain behavioral science techniques could improve both comprehension of life insurance products and user experience. The first experiment focused on improving comprehension of written messages used in the sales journey, and the second tested the impact of using both human- and AI-generated videos.

Both experiments recruited participants residing in the U.S. and measured comprehension based on participants' ability to answer questions related to the digital journey.

We chose a term life insurance product because it is commonly sold online in the U.S., yet many of its concepts are challenging for customers to understand. Many of the comprehension-enhancing techniques we tested are also likely relevant to presenting information on other insurance products.

We tested these concepts in a simulated digital sales journey, as the digital channel is where the products are increasingly sold, but how comprehension of life insurance products and their value best translates into this journey is not yet well understood. While this experiment focused on a digital sales environment, in many cases the findings are also likely relevant to non-digital financial information. For example, how information is presented in paper documents can also be improved using many of the techniques studied here.

Results

Our work revealed that taking complex life insurance terminology and only simplifying it does not significantly improve comprehension. Instead, simple language must be used in combination with other behavioral science techniques. Specifically, we found that making information salient via frequently asked questions (FAQs) or utilizing icons and attractive text can significantly improve overall comprehension of all content by 21%. When examining only the content that was exclusively emphasized utilizing these techniques, comprehension increased by 40%. This finding demonstrates the importance of strategically utilizing techniques such as FAQs to present critical information, as this information is much more likely to be understood than other information on a site that is shown in plain text.

Our research also found that adding positive friction to the journey – that is, purposefully encouraging customers to engage deeply and deliberately with key information – significantly improves overall comprehension of all content by 28%. When measuring comprehension based solely on content specifically added to create positive friction, comprehension of this information rose to 59%. This finding contradicts the typical focus of customer journey design that attempts to speed people through the process by removing friction wherever possible. Instead, helping customers to engage with important but difficult-to-understand content by making it relevant for them significantly improves understanding of that content.

We also found that utilizing video as an additional way to make critical information more salient and engaging significantly improves comprehension. However, to garner further gains in comprehension, choosing the right messenger can provide additional uplift. For example, a speaker who is perceived as credible, expert, and sharing the same (or a similar) cultural background as the observer, correlates with higher levels of comprehension.

Because video production costs can have negative implications for scalability, we also examined whether AI avatars could be viable replacement messengers for their human counterparts. Initial results suggest that AI avatars are perceived as less credible, less likeable, and more unsettling than their human counterparts. While perceptions of AI avatars in videos were less positive than those for humans, comprehension levels were only slightly lower (5.5%) than when a human messenger delivers information. Given the speed and proliferation of AI technology, it is possible that AI messengers may in the future serve as a scalable alternative in customer journey design as they are further improved.

Lastly, while our work identified opportunities for insurers to improve customer comprehension, additional work is needed to further narrow the comprehension gap.

Click Here



Give us your feedback! Take a short survey on this report.

7

Section 1: The Comprehension Challenge in Life Insurance Journeys

"True simplicity is derived from so much more than just the absence of clutter and ornamentation. It's about bringing **order to complexity**." – Sir Jony Ive (Former Chief Designer for Apple)

Many people find life insurance complex. Even people classified as "financially literate" by globally vetted measures struggle to understand and apply insurance knowledge (Weedige, Ouyang, Gao, and Liu, 2019). This challenges life insurers to find ways to improve financial inclusion, comply with regulatory advice, ensure positive customer experiences, and grow the industry.

Life insurance sales in the U.S. have been on a steady decline since the 1960s (Hartley, Paulson, and Powers, 2017). In 1989, for example, 77% of households owned life insurance. Since then, the share has fallen to around 51% (LIMRA & Life Happens, 2024). This trend is concerning for the future of the individual life insurance industry, as it suggests consumers are failing to see the value that life insurance products offer.

The problem is not that life insurance lacks value for consumers. We in the industry know it solves problems many people face following the death of a loved one, such as paying a mortgage, affording funeral costs, and securing a family's financial stability. Nonetheless, the protection gap – the difference between the amount of insurance held by policyholders and the amount needed to sustain surviving families – was estimated to be \$25 trillion in 2016 in the U.S. alone (Swiss Re Institute, 2018). Certain groups, including women, Hispanic and Black Americans, and millennials, are also more likely to be underinsured. This can be a significant opportunity for improving financial inclusion in populations and for market growth. For example, while six in ten Hispanic Americans do not have life insurance, more than half (53%) say they have a need (LIMRA & Life Happens, 2024), representing a coverage gap of 24 million individuals.

One reason for the ongoing decline in sales may be the way in which products are now sold. Traditionally, insurance agents and financial advisers were a vitally important piece of the life insurance sales journey. They can effectively explain the products' difficult concepts to customers, demonstrate the value, and help them make confident purchase decisions. Unfortunately, however, in most developed markets, the number of such agents and advisers is falling, and the average age of those remaining continues to increase (World Economic Forum, 2017). There is also a significant attrition issue, as 30% of new agents quit in 90 days, 90% are gone after three years, and 95% leave after five years (AgentMethods, 2024).

Insurers are instead turning to digital sales channels. Digital channels are often seen as beneficial because sales journeys can, in theory, be completed quickly, easily, and virtually. However, with no adviser to guide customers, digitally distributed products present two key challenges:

- The lack of face-to-face explanation can make it less likely that customers will understand the benefits of life insurance.
- The lack of an adviser can make it less likely that customers will comprehend the key terminology and concepts needed to make confident, informed decisions about protection.

The protection gap is a problem both for the insurance industry and society. To narrow the gap, a new approach to marketing and selling life insurance is needed – one that can demonstrate life insurance's value and illuminate its unfamiliar concepts to diverse audiences in digital and non-digital channels. To accomplish the goal of improving digital life insurance sales, insurers need a better understanding of how customers interact with information presented digitally, to capture their attention, improve their understanding, and effectively demonstrate the value of life insurance.

Section 2: A Behavioral Science Lens on Customer Comprehension

2.1 BACKGROUND: DEFINING BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE

This research utilizes the behavioral science discipline as a framework for examining the problem statement and presents tools and techniques stemming from this area. While applying behavioral science to life insurance is not new, there is little published research considering its impact on comprehension of life insurance products.

The terms "behavioral science" and "behavioral economics" are often used interchangeably within the industry, but they are not identical. Behavioral science is an umbrella term that encompasses a variety of disciplines, including psychology, sociology, and anthropology, while also focusing on the behavioral aspects of other disciplines such as biology and economics. The goal of behavioral science is to understand human cognition and behavior (Borja, 2023).

Behavioral economics is a narrower area of study that focuses on economic decision-making. Studies in this area show that humans are less rational than classical economic theory suggests. Behavioral economics is regarded as a sub-science of behavioral science as it uses methodologies typically derived and influenced by behavioral science, such as social psychology (FlexMR, 2020).

For our study, we are using the term "behavioral science," as we draw insights from a wide range of associated decision-making literature.

2.2 BEHAVIORAL SCIENCE AND CUSTOMER COMPREHENSION

Often, even if only implicitly, those of us working in insurance assume customers will interpret information about products as we would like them to, and that they understand the value we believe is inherent in our products. By understanding how customers process information provided by life insurers, we can improve insurance product comprehensibility.

Humans do not have infinite mental processing power (Wu *et al.*, 2016). This means that the cognitive functions vital for comprehension, such as attention, memory, judgment, and decision-making, are not infinite in scope. Still, people successfully complete many daily tasks without a second thought. This is because, for many mental activities, humans use a fast, automatic, and even unconscious thought-processing mode, referred to by psychologists as "System 1" thinking (Kahneman, 2011). For tasks that require more mental effort, i.e., more deliberate and logical thought, such as calculations involving numbers or decisions involving tradeoffs, humans use a slower, more-considered thought processing mode, referred to as "System 2" thinking.



To simplify decisions, people often use mental shortcuts called **heuristics** (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974) in their System 1 thinking. For example, a person might decide whether to buy a product based on how the marketing makes them feel rather than by logically comparing the pros and cons of the product or might judge how likely an event is to occur based on how easily it springs to mind. This latter mode of thought is known as the **availability heuristic** and is one reason why humans tend to overestimate the risk of terrorist and shark attacks while underestimating the risk of road accidents.

Many of the challenging pieces of information that customers need to consider when deciding whether to purchase life insurance are likely candidates for heuristics. One misleading but commonly utilized information shortcut is conflating price with quality.

To improve comprehension, insurers would benefit from considering both System 1 and System 2 thinking when structuring customer sales journeys. By doing so, they can:

- Maximize the accuracy of customer judgments made by fast (System 1) thinking.
- Increase the likelihood and clarity of slow, well-reasoned (System 2) thinking at the right moments.

2.3 FAST-THINKING APPROACHES TO COMPREHENSION

Comprehension of complex information can be improved using a range of techniques that focus on making the information more engaging and intuitive. The sections below offer various techniques that have proven successful in a range of contexts. In our experiments, we were able to adapt and use most of these techniques to determine their impact on comprehension of term life insurance.

The approaches to comprehension we cover in this section have been grouped into these four categories: make it easy, make it timely, make it salient, and make it relevant. We utilize the same naming convention for the interventions we designed and tested. The interventions are detailed in two study design sections- one for each study.

2.3.1 MAKE IT EASY

2.3.1.1 Simplifying language and numbers

Most U.S. states impose a plain language requirement on insurance materials. This means "using language, structure, and design so clearly and effectively that the audience has the best possible chance of readily finding what they need, understanding it, and using it" (Cheek, 2010). Using colloquial rather than technical terminology is an important aspect of this.

Readability scores, such as the Flesch-Kincaide readability test, can provide a measure of ease of comprehensibility of content (Barczuk, 2015). However, simplification of language often yields the best results when done by skilled writers as opposed to using a readability test to tweak the language in order to obtain a desired score (Trapani and Walmsley, 1981). Even with the rise of AI technology in writing, it is best leveraged as a complementary tool for expert writers. While AI is an impressive generalist with a large base of knowledge across multiple domains, it struggles with the intricacies of specialized knowledge (Belmont, 2023).

Simplifying the way numbers are presented is also important for customer comprehension of complex materials in a range of fields, including life insurance (McGarry *et al.*, 2016) and healthcare (Peters *et al.*, 2006). There are known and effective techniques, such as displaying proportions as natural frequencies rather than percentages, for example, writing six out of 100 rather than 6% (Hoffrage *et al.*, 2000; Bertrand and Morse, 2011).

2.3.1.2 Structuring text

The ways in which text can be structured throughout a sales journey can also influence comprehension. Effective approaches include:

- **Chunking,** which refers to grouping types of information into convenient bite-sized pieces. For example, lengthy telephone and credit card numbers are typically organized into subgroups of three or four digits, which helps with recall. One study found that chunking information about bank savings accounts by presenting the images and textual explanations on one screen at a time increased customer engagement, understanding and, ultimately, purchase intent (The Behavioural Insights Team, 2018).
- Bullet points and checklists, to aid in explaining key points and benefits. These have been shown to be effective in motivating customers to respond to communications from financial institutions (Adams and Hunt, 2013) and, ultimately, increasing the amount of life insurance coverage purchased (Coe, Belbase, and Wu, 2016).

2.3.1.3 Using affect

The **affect heuristic** is a mental shortcut people use to make judgments based on the good or bad feelings they may have about a situation, rather than making a full appraisal of a situation's costs and benefits. For example, studies show that images and descriptions that present emotionally evocative stories about products may be a more effective sales tool than presenting detailed assessments of the benefits (Peters *et al.*, 2013).

Some approaches to harnessing affect to improve comprehension of life insurance include:

- Adding emotionally descriptive labels, such as "excellent" or "poor," to numerical risk information (Slovic and Peters, 2006). Similarly, explicitly demonstrating the emotional significance of a life insurance purchase (i.e., to protect a loved one's financial wellbeing) is likely to improve a customer's comprehension of its value.
- **Presenting brief, engaging stories** of how life insurance works in the real world. Storytelling is successfully used in medical communications for example, presenting cancer prevention guidance using emotional stories rather than facts and figures. In one cancer prevention study, the authors found that storytelling

helped individuals identify with a message more, thereby increasing engagement (McQueen *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, women who were more engaged talked with friends and families more, which increased message recall. However, a recent study from LIMRA found that storytelling did not influence employee take-up of life insurance (Landry, 2023), possibly due to the negative emotions the cited story elicited.

2.3.2 MAKE IT TIMELY

- **Timeliness** of presenting information is known to be important in various settings, especially aligning it with the time a decision should be made. For example, in banking, signing up for text alerts instead of waiting for annual account summaries may help consumers avoid overdraft fees (Garavito, Hunt, and Kelly, 2015). For life insurers, defining key concepts at the points in the application journey when they are important to understand may be beneficial to achieving the sale.
- Taking advantage of **primacy and recency effects**, which refers to the human ability to have better recall of information presented at the beginning and end of documents (Murdock, 1962; Welch and Burnett, 1924), can also improve comprehension and sales.

2.3.3 MAKE IT SALIENT

Increasing the **salience**, or the likelihood of attracting people's attention, of key information is also important for overall comprehension. Various methods of improving salience have proven effective, such as:

- **Imagery** has been found to increase customer comprehension of car finance contracts (McElvaney, Lunn, and McGowan, 2018) and civil servants' comprehension of legal instructions (Passera, 2018).
- Layering, which refers to revealing key information at the top level of a webpage, while detail is provided in a deeper "layer," such as after the click of a help button. Layering has proven a successful technique for creating understandable privacy policies that are easier for readers to grasp (Kelley, Cesca, and Cranor, 2010).
- **Summarizing** complex information, or presenting the gist of an argument, has proven effective. One study found that presenting participants with a summary of a user license agreement was more effective at preventing them from downloading fictional spyware than giving them the actual (and lengthy) user license agreement (Ahern *et al.*, 2007).

2.4 SLOW-THINKING APPROACHES TO COMPREHENSION

Although the focus when designing sales journeys is typically to speed people through the process by removing information where possible, in some circumstances encouraging customers to engage deeply and deliberately with key information is important. This is the concept of **positive friction**.

Research published by the University College London defines "positive friction" as design that "can disrupt mindless automatic interactions, prompting moments of reflection and more mindful interaction" (Cox and Gould, 2016). An example of this is the additional screens placed into digital banking websites from which customers make payments to ensure that payee details are correct. While this slows down the payment journey, it makes errors less likely, improving the journey for customers and accuracy for the bank.

Psychologists have also shown that engaging more deeply with information and enriching the information by integrating it with existing knowledge leads to better memory (Craik, 2002). Hence, slowing the sales journey by using positive friction techniques for key information to encourage deeper customer engagement and thought can improve recall and comprehension of the material's most important concepts.

2.4.1 MAKE IT RELEVANT

One way to encourage individuals to interact more deeply with information is to ensure that it is applicable to their experience. This can be accomplished through **personalization** of content.

An aspect of personalization directly applicable to the life insurance context is giving consumers more control and influence over how they interact with a product. Giving individuals more responsibility in how they engage and interact with content or information heightens their cognitive effort, resulting in higher learning (Deslauriers *et al.*, 2019). What "control" looks like in practice means allowing individuals to understand the terms and conditions of a product by introducing tools and aids such as sliding scales and calculators. As an example, the Australian Securities and Investment Commission created a switching mortgage calculator to help consumers take more ownership over this process (Marandola *et al.*, 2020). In another study, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) presented an online pension simulator in Chile, which allowed individuals to explore many of the assumptions and parameters of their contributions. While the study did not aim to measure comprehension, it was helpful in elucidating the various metrics and information that users preferred to access to help them make decisions about their pensions.

2.5 THE MESSENGER EFFECT: USING VIDEO AND ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE TO ENHANCE COMPREHENSION

The final aspects of comprehension discussed in this research are the media channels through which information is delivered and the perceived identity of the messenger. These two aspects of communication are increasingly important for insurers to consider, given the recent and rapid evolution of how consumers view information (e.g., the proliferation of social media platforms) and how those changes influence the overall effectiveness of how that information is communicated.

2.5.1 THE RISE AND POWER OF VIDEO

In a digital environment, insurers have a wide choice of how to present messages. Video has become a highly important and familiar medium through which people (particularly younger individuals) consume information. As an example, TikTok had more than 1.5 billion monthly active users in 2023 and is projected to reach 1.8 billion by the end of 2024 (Iqbal, 2024), with the average user spending 52 minutes a day watching TikTok videos (Woodward, 2024). TikTok users are also 1.8 times more likely to agree that the platform introduces them to new topics they did not even know they liked (Sweeney, 2024), and a quarter of U.S. adults under age 30 regularly get their news on TikTok (Chavda, 2024). A survey by LendingTree found that 41% of Gen Z report using TikTok for investment information (Putnam Investments, 2021). Financial advisers have sought to capitalize on TikTok's user base, with 21% of advisers opting to use the platform for their business (Putnam Investments, 2021).

Not only is the popularity of video streaming services with consumers high and growing, but it may also be a more effective way for consumers to receive certain messages than written text. Digital marketers often state that "people process visuals 60,000 times faster than text" (Harley, 2001). Although this may be an exaggeration, visual information is a highly effective way to deliver messages and, according to other research, people process visual information about 6 to 600 times faster than information presented as text (Hauk *et al.*, 2006).

Video is used effectively across various industries. For example, one marketing study found that viewers retain 95% of a message presented in a video compared to 10% of a message in text conveying the same material (Insivia, 2023). Similarly, in public health research, video-based health interventions have been found to have longer effectiveness than text-based interventions (Cheung *et al.*, 2017). In this study, educational content was delivered by actors relaying the same information in a video that was delivered via text in the text-based intervention. The authors found that people who watched the video version of the intervention recalled information more readily than those who received the same information presented as text (Yadav *et al.*, 2011).

2.5.2 THE MESSENGER EFFECT

With video being a strong option for delivering messages, insurers must decide which type of person would be the best option for delivering the message. According to several researchers, how humans perceive the credibility, expertise, likability, or authority of the person delivering a message influences how the message is interpreted (Cialdini, 2001; Marandola *et al.*, 2020; Wilson and Sherrell, 1993). This is referred to as the "**messenger effect**." "Hard" messengers who appear more knowledgeable may be more persuasive, but "soft" messengers may appear more approachable and are more likely to be listened to because audiences feel more connected to them (Martin and Marks, 2019). A viewer may also feel a connection with a messenger based on characteristics such as perceived similarity and trustworthiness.

This messenger effect was used widely and effectively during the COVID-19 pandemic. In countries around the world, local officials and community and religious leaders were used to convey messages to combat the population's vaccine hesitancy and boost trust and confidence in the advice.

Unfortunately, evidence to date that the messenger effect improves comprehension of financial information is mixed (Marandola *et al.*, 2020; Elshout *et al.*, 2016). One concern is that the increasing trust in a messenger may make individuals less likely to feel they need to pay close attention to the information shared because trusting the messenger to make the right decision on the customer's behalf serves as an information shortcut. We explored this issue in our research.

2.5.3 A NEW KIND OF DIGITAL MESSENGER: ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE

Increasingly, videos are being narrated by computer-generated avatars rather than by actual humans. Artificial intelligence (AI)-generated messengers have been shown to be successful in communicating messages related to advertising (Miller *et al.*, 2023), wellbeing (Rubin *et al.*, 2022), medical training (Andrade *et al.*, 2010), customer service (Wang and Fodness, 2010), and psychological therapy (Fitzpatrick, Darcy, and Vierhile, 2017).

Al video messengers have key advantages over human ones. They are cheaper to use, increasingly easy and quick to create, and can be tailored easily to a specific role. Some viewers even prefer the anonymity AI messengers offer, as they can interact with the avatar and disclose sensitive information without feeling the shame and embarrassment they might feel when interacting with a real person (Lucas *et al.*, 2014, 2017).

Research to date is showing that humanlike avatars tend to be seen as trusted, competent, and warm (Kim and Hur, 2023; Konya-Baumbach, Biller, and von Janda, 2023) and have also been shown to increase purchase intentions (Chen, Le, and Florence, 2021; Go and Sundar, 2019; Konya-Baumbach, Biller, and von Janda, 2023; Sidlauskiene, Joye, and Auruskeviciene, 2023). A range of factors contributing to these impressions include the messenger's appearance (Ciechanowski *et al.*, 2019), name (Araujo, 2020), and speech patterns (Sidlauskiene, Joye, and Auruskeviciene, 2023), all of which are important for this perception. Recent research has also demonstrated the importance of likeness pertaining to representation in television ads. Specifically, minority representation depicted in mortgage refinancing ads resulted in an increase in **advertising elasticity** – that is, effectiveness in generating new sales – by 14% (Basiouny, 2024). While this research is specific to human-centered ads, if AI avatars can solicit similar feelings of representation among consumers, this could further narrow the knowledge and life insurance ownership gap among underrepresented groups.

Overall, the interaction quality with AI beings is similar to that achieved with human messengers (Miller *et al.*, 2023). However, the well-known **uncanny valley** effect, which refers to the eerie feeling people experience when humanlike robots or avatars closely resemble humans in many respects but are not quite convincingly realistic, could make interacting with AI beings less effective (Gillis, 2024).

Our research explored whether AI-generated avatars could become effective messengers for life insurance information.

Section 3: Our Approach to Examining Comprehension of Life Insurance Products and their Value

3.1 METHODOLOGY

In this study, we used two experiments that simulated online term life insurance purchase journeys to test how certain behavioral science techniques could improve comprehension and user experience.

We used a simulated term life product because it is frequently sold online in the U.S. market, yet many of its concepts are challenging for customers to understand. We also validated focusing on this product for the study with the Society of Actuaries' Project Oversight Group (SOA POG). Many of the comprehension-enhancing techniques we tested are likely relevant to presenting information on other insurance products.

We tested these comprehension-enhancing techniques in a simulated digital journey, as this is where the products are increasingly sold, but it is not yet well understood how comprehension of life insurance products and their value best translates into this journey. Digital is also a framework that is testable with online experiments and, in many cases, the techniques tested are also likely relevant to non-digital information. For example, how information is presented in paper documents can also be improved using many of the techniques studied here, such as chunking and affect.

Our experiments explored whether:

- Using fast-thinking techniques that make information more intuitive would improve customer comprehension.
- Using slow thinking tactically to encourage engagement would improve customer comprehension.
- These techniques would improve customer comprehension for those with low financial literacy.
- Presenting long-form information was more effective via video, and whether AI-generated video was any less effective than having the same information presented by a human.
- The perceived characteristics of the video messengers would influence comprehension. Examples of characteristics examined include likeability, personality, and attractiveness.

3.1.1 RANDOMIZED CONTROL TRIALS

Both experiments were conducted as online randomized control trials (RCTs) to determine the best way to present information and improve comprehension of term life insurance information. While no study on its own can prove causality, randomization reduces bias and is a rigorous tool for examining the cause-effect relationship between an intervention (website version in our case) and an outcome (e.g., comprehension). Randomization balances both observed and unobserved participant characteristics between groups such that any differences observed in the outcome can be directly attributed to the intervention being tested (Hariton and Locascio, 2018).

The successful design of RCTs requires careful attention to how the population is selected, the interventions that will be compared, and the outcome of interest. Once these parameters are defined, the number of participants required to reliably determine whether the relationships identified exist needs to be assessed via power calculation (see subsection 3.3 on sample size). Lastly, it is important that at the time participants are recruited, researchers are unaware to which intervention each participant is being allocated to further minimize bias. For this study, we used the survey platform Qualtrics to build the survey, recruit, and randomize participants to each condition.

Given how crucial it is that randomization is implemented correctly to reap the benefits of this method, we ran multiple "soft launches" for each experiment, stopping data collection once 50, 100, and then 200 surveys were completed. At each point, we examined the distribution of observable characteristics (e.g., demographics) across each condition. Upon completion of the soft launches and examinations, the remainder of the surveys were launched until 2,000 participants per experiment was reached. The experiments were launched sequentially, as the results from the first experiment determined the design and interventions tested in the second experiment.

3.1.2 STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Participants were not informed about the purpose of the experiments. Instead, they were instructed to review the website from the perspective of a consumer. Participation in the experiment was voluntary, and participants could exit the experiment at any stage. Participants who completed the experiment were compensated for their time.

Participants were allowed to begin the survey if they met two requirements. First, individuals had to agree to the consent form presented, which summarized (at a high level) the aims of the study and how their data would be used. Next, individuals had to answer demographic questions about age, sex, race, ethnicity, income, and region to meet the sample quota requirements designated for each experiment.

In partnership with Qualtrics, we aimed to collect two nationally representative samples of 2,000 participants for each respective experiment. To guard against unfair learning, participants who took part in the first experiment were ineligible to take part in the second experiment. While we were able to achieve a nationally representative sample for the first experiment, we had to relax sample quota requirements for the second experiment due to sample collection taking much longer than anticipated. The demographic distributions for each experiment can be found in Appendix B.

There were two main contributions to the challenges experienced in achieving two nationally representative samples. First, reaching racial and ethnic minorities, older ages, and higher income brackets was difficult, but this is an expected challenge in most surveys aiming to achieve a nationally representative sample. The second challenge arose because of the high proportion of participants failing the manipulation checks included in the survey.

Manipulation checks (or attention checks) are encouraged in experimental studies, but there is often hesitancy to use them because it can be unclear which ones to use and whether they can potentially impact experimental findings. However, simulation studies have shown that factual manipulation checks (FMCs), which are objective questions about key aspects of an experiment, can identify individual-level attentiveness to experimental information and, therefore, better enable researchers to diagnose experimental findings (Kane and Barabas, 2018). There is also little evidence that FMCs affect the intervention effects (Kane and Barabas, 2018). The manipulation check questions used in this study can be found in Appendix A.

3.1.3 STUDY DESIGN

3.1.3.1 Study flow

The overall study experience for each experiment proceeded as follows. Once respondents passed the screening portion of the survey, they were provided a summary of how the survey would progress. First, we provided a high-level overview for the website they would review and were instructed to browse as if they were intending to purchase the product presented. Next, they were randomly assigned to one of the five websites created for the experiment. After viewing their assigned website, participants were given three manipulation-check questions to ensure they reviewed the website. Participants who did not answer all three questions correctly were not eligible to continue the survey.

Participants who passed the manipulation checks were then presented with 15 multiple choice questions about term life insurance to measure comprehension, followed by a three-question financial literacy test. Last, they were

asked a few questions about their experience, and additional lifestyle and demographic information was collected. Figure 1 provides a summary of the entire process.





3.1.3.2 Measuring comprehension

In partnership with the SOA POG, the concept of comprehension was operationalized by constructing 15 multiple choice questions to measure how well participants understood the information presented on the website they viewed. An example question is presented below, and the full list of questions can be viewed in Appendix A.

If you were to buy this policy, would you need to take a medical examination?

- a) Yes, every customer is required to have an examination
- b) No, no customers are ever required to have an examination
- c) Yes, in some circumstances an examination may be required
- d) The information is not given

3.1.3.3 Measuring financial literacy

Financial literacy (FL) is defined as "a combination of awareness, knowledge, skill, attitude, and behavior necessary to make sound financial decisions and ultimately achieve individual financial well-being (OECD/INFE, 2011)." Research has demonstrated that FL is positively associated with increased demand for life insurance (Pitthan and De Witte, 2021). However, improved financial decision-making resulting from FL gains can be stymied by cognitive biases and system 1 thought processes (Garcia, 2013), especially when given low quality information (Altman, 2012). As a result, we were interested in understanding if and how financial literacy impacted comprehension.

Participants' financial literacy was measured by having respondents answer the questions that constitute the "Big Three" financial literacy test (Lusardi and Mitchell, 2008). We have included one example question below and the rest are available in Appendix A.

Example financial literacy question:

Suppose you had \$100 in a savings account, and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow?

- a) More than \$102
- b) Exactly \$102

- c) Less than \$102
- d) Do not know
- e) Refuse to answer

3.1.3.4 Prototype website development

We utilized the web design tool, Figma, to develop the website prototypes, and a company logo generator to come up with the name "Got Vita" and its branding, so that it would seem like a realistic life insurance brand. We also ensured that Got Vita was not in use for any product at the time of this experiment.

An important aspect of the study was to develop a plausible generic insurance website that reflected the type of content a consumer would typically expect to see to test whether we could use behavioral science techniques to improve upon that version. We browsed 10 insurance websites to get a sense of how term life insurance information is currently presented and explained and came up with the control website prototype with input from the SOA POG. All the website prototypes developed were reviewed by the researchers in collaboration with the SOA POG to ensure they worked across various devices and browsers.

3.2 ANALYSIS APPROACH

For each experiment, the analysis was divided into two separate sections: a primary and secondary analysis. Our main objective was to understand the impact of behavioral science techniques on overall comprehension of term life insurance and its value. The key findings for that primary outcome are examined in each primary analysis section.

When our primary analysis led us to explore additional secondary questions that were prompted by the main set of findings, for example, measuring the impact of financial literacy on comprehension, we labeled this our secondary analysis.

We delineated between these two streams of analysis as an important guard against finding false positives. That is, the more comparisons are made in any analysis, the more likely you are to uncover statistically significant relationships due to chance alone (Harrell, 2017). Therefore, we suggest that the findings presented in the secondary analysis sections be viewed as exploratory and should be studied further in the future.

An additional method we employ to safeguard against spuriousness (i.e., minimizing false positives) is balancing the factors that can potentially confound the results. As mentioned earlier, RCTs allow for the measurement of causal relationships because they can retrieve an "unbiased estimate of the average effect of a treatment (Kraus, 2021)." However, for causal inferences to be made, the randomization of participants into groups needs to be executed properly. One way to check whether the randomization worked is to determine if all confounding factors (e.g., demographics) are balanced across control and intervention groups. We checked the balance of all demographic information collected and, in cases where any statistically significant differences were identified between groups assigned to the control website and the other website versions (p<.05), those variables were added as control factors. Balance tables can be found in Appendix C.

For additional robustness of our primary analyses, we utilized the Bonferroni correction method to counteract the multiple comparisons problem (Harrell, 2017). While various statistical techniques are available for guarding against false positives, we chose this technique because it's easy to apply and understand. Although it is critiqued for being too conservative, given that we were not conducting many statistical tests, it worked well for our purpose. We elected to only apply this correction to our primary analyses as those contained our main area of interest.

3.3 SAMPLE SIZE

Researchers typically use univariate analysis to estimate the sample size needed to detect statistical significance in experiments. This approach works well in randomized controlled trials because randomization will, on average, eliminate confounding effects that arise from covariate imbalances across treatment and control groups.

However, this study is interested in modeling the impact of both causal and correlational variables on comprehension. As a result, the analysis proposed is no longer univariate in nature, so a power calculation is not feasible.

There are various statistical approaches for determining the sample size needed to conduct multivariate analyses. In some cases, calculations require information about each of the model's variables, which would be extremely difficult to acquire given the limited amount of evidence that intersects the various domains presented in this paper.

Jenkins (2020) put forth the minimum sample size required for analyzing linear and quadratic effects via regression analysis. He found that the variance in the sample was more critical for determining sample size than the magnitude of the effect. He proposed that a minimum sample size of N = 8 could produce stable results in low variance, while high variance would require N \ge 25. However, his work was limited to the inclusion of only one variable in the model.

Published work that most closely resembles this study is the RCTs published by Plain Numbers (2021). Figure 2 below provides a summary of the results from the white paper. The differences in the proportion of questions answered correctly across the treatment and control groups over the five trials range from 6% to 26%. In addition, their measurement of comprehension was modeled using logistic regression, which we did not use.

Combining minimum sample size requirements proposed by Jenkins (2020) and using the research published by Plain Numbers, this study opted to maximize the amount of sample per website version that was deemed financially reasonable by RGA. Therefore, the aim was to recruit 400 participants per condition, resulting in a total of 2,000 respondents. The final sample provided by Qualtrics for analysis was 2,001 for the first experiment, and 2,005 for the second. The additional responses collected once the 2,000 threshold was reached resulted from those surveys being completed as the survey link was being turned off. We decided to retain the additional responses for analysis.

Plain Numbers Studies					
	Treatment	Control	Difference	Sample Size	
Trial 1: ClearScore	40%	19%	21%	1,000	
Trial 2: Atlanta	61%	35%	26%	1,000	
Trial 3: Octopus Energy	57%	32%	25%	1,000	
Trial 4: Direct Line	30%	24%	6%	1,000	
Trial 5: Thames Water	48%	13%	35%	1,000	

Figure 2

THE EFFECT OF THE "PLAIN NUMBERS" APPROACH ON COMPREHENSION

Section 4: Experiment 1: Exploring Communication Simplification Techniques throughout the Digital Journey

In our first experiment, we used a simulated digital term life insurance journey to test techniques for engaging users and simplifying information to improve comprehension and user experience.

Researchers have found a range of techniques to be useful for improving comprehension of complex information. However, these techniques have not yet been studied extensively in an insurance context.

4.1 EXPERIMENT DESIGN

We created five prototypes of a term life insurance sales journey (Figure 3). Each version was designed to test various behavioral science techniques which have worked in different contexts. We approached this by providing the similar content in each of the versions, but the ways in which content was phrased, presented, and the examples used differed. A description of how information was presented in each version can be found in Figure 3.

Figure 3





4.2 EXPERIMENT PARTICIPANTS

We recruited a sample of 2,001 people, which represented the U.S. population demographically. We measured participants' financial literacy (FL) to understand whether comprehension techniques could reduce comprehension disadvantages for those with lower levels of FL. For additional details regarding the participants in this study, please review subsection 3.1.2 on study participants.

4.3 CREATING A DIGITAL JOURNEY

Figure 4

DESCRIPTION OF DIGITAL JOURNEY FOR EACH WEBSITE PROTOTYPE



This figure provides a summary of the entire website flow presented to experiment participants. Depending on the version they were assigned, in some instances, they viewed only a subset of these pages.

4.4 FAST- AND SLOW-THINKING BEHAVIORAL APPROACHES TESTED

4.4.1 CONTROL PROTOTYPE

We first created a version of the website which did not use any of the comprehension techniques tested in the other versions. Many existing life insurance journeys lack the interventional techniques studied here to improve customer comprehension.

In this case, the control prototype was a deliberate example of poor practice but still a realistic example, which allowed us to measure the effect of using behavioral science techniques employed in the other prototype versions.

The key features of the control prototype were:

- The language used was technical and included jargon.
- Key information was presented in a single block toward the beginning of the journey.
- Key information required that a "help" button be clicked to view.
- No attempts were made to use positive friction techniques that would force engagement with the material.

- No additional visuals were used to catch users' attention.
- No narrative examples were used to improve engagement.
- No emotive language was used to help build participants' intuitive understanding of the value of life insurance.

Figure 5

SCREEN FROM THE CONTROL PROTOTYPE¹



The language used was technical, unemotional, presented as one block at the beginning and end of the journey, and did not use images or require the user to engage deeply with key aspects.

¹ The name "Got Vita" was created for the sole purpose of these test websites. As of the date of this publication, this name is not related to any real-life insurance company.

4.4.2 MAKE IT EASY PROTOTYPE

The second version was identical to the control version in terms of how the information was structured and presented. The only differences were:

- **Simplified:** The language used was simplified. Technical terms were defined clearly. Bullet points were used to break up text.
- Affect: The description of the benefits drew attention to the emotional aspects of purchasing life insurance to encourage comprehension of the product's value.

Figure 6



The make it easy prototype was identical in structure to the control version, but technical terminology was explained or replaced with commonly used language. Descriptions highlighted the emotional aspects of purchasing life insurance.

4.4.3 MAKE IT TIMELY PROTOTYPE

Our third iteration built upon the simplified language prototype, but used additional techniques to improve the structure of the information provided:

- **Chunking:** The information was split into smaller, digestible pieces that would be easier to process and remember.
- **Timeliness:** Each chunk of information was delivered at the relevant point in the journey, rather than in one block at the beginning or end. For example, the explanation of what a premium means was provided when the premium payments were presented.



The make it timely prototype delivered information in smaller chunks at the point in the journey when users most needed to make decisions.

4.4.4 MAKE IT SALIENT PROTOTYPE

The fourth iteration used the same techniques as the make it relevant prototype, but used additional techniques to make the information more salient (accessible in people's attention):

- Layering: Key concepts were described up front on the top layer of the interface, and additional detail was provided behind accordion menus that revealed more detail when clicked.
- **Summaries:** "Frequently asked questions" labeled the key points a customer should know about the policy and provided relevant, digestible detail.
- **Images:** Small icon-style images were used to draw users' attention to key concepts and were visible in plain view instead of requiring a click to reveal.

Figure 8



The make it salient prototype was designed to make key details stand out in users' attention, using layering of information, icons, and FAQ summaries.

4.4.5 MAKE IT RELEVANT PROTOTYPE

The final prototype employed all the previous techniques but was also designed to encourage deeper thinking about the key concepts. To do so, we used several positive friction techniques:

- Questions: Asking participants additional questions was done to force consideration of key concepts. For example, we asked questions about the identities of beneficiaries rather than just defining the word "beneficiary." We also asked whether the user had considered whole life cover, followed by defining the circumstances in which it would be useful. This encouraged participants to consider the differences between term and whole life policies.
- Needs calculator: We asked users several questions accompanied by a description of why the responses were important in assessing the need for insurance. For example, asking how much the customer had left to pay on a mortgage, loans, or other financial commitments ensured that they took into consideration that covering these debts was a key goal of a term policy.

Figure 9 SCREEN FROM THE MAKE IT RELEVANT PROTOTYPE

Who would you like to receive the payout if you pass away or are diagnosed with a terminal illness?	Have you considered whether a Whole Life policy would be useful in the fature?
Beneficianes	Yes
My spouse/ partner	No
My child(ren)	
Someone else	
More than one	Users are asked additional questions to force consideration of key concept

The make it relevant prototype asked users questions about key details and then provided further information to force the users to engage with key aspects of the journey.

4.5 RESULTS

4.5.1 PRIMARY ANALYSIS

4.5.1.1 Overall comprehension

The make it salient and make it relevant interventions increased comprehension scores by 21% and 28%, respectively, compared with the control. These results were statistically significant. The make it easy intervention, however, increased participants' comprehension scores by 3% compared with the control, while the make it timely intervention increased comprehension by only 0.2%. These results were not statistically significant.

Figure 10 shows the average number of correct answers to the comprehension questions for the control and intervention groups.²

Figure 10

ESTIMATES FOR PRIMARY OUTCOME IN EXPERIMENT 1, OVERALL COMPREHENSION (MEASURED BY NUMBER OF CORRECT ANSWERS TO 15 MULTIPLE-CHOICE QUESTIONS)



² For all graphs in this report, the error bars show the 95% confidence interval of the difference between each intervention (the light blue bars) and the control condition (the dark blue bar). These differences were estimated using linear regressions with robust standard errors controlling for the demographic characteristics that were imbalanced across the conditions.

4.5.1.2 Comprehension of behaviorally enhanced content

The comprehension test was constructed to measure overall understanding of life insurance concepts and terms throughout the entire digital journey. As a result, even though we were measuring the impact of salience on comprehension in the make it salient intervention, not every piece of information presented was salient. Similarly, while the make it relevant intervention created a few additional points of interaction in the digital journey, the entire journey was not interactive.

We were interested in understanding if the information that was made more salient or interactive increased understanding of that specific information but reduced attention and, therefore, understanding of the information that was not made prominent. To test this, we separately measured comprehension of the information that was displayed in FAQs, by icon cutouts, or as part of the interactive webpages, against comprehension of the information that was not mate may be a solution that was not highlighted in these ways.

We found that the make it salient and make it relevant interventions performed better than the control on questions that related to the terms these interventions emphasized. This also did not lead to any reduction in performance on the terms that they did not emphasize.

Figure 11



NUMBER OF CORRECT ANSWERS ABOUT LIFE INSURANCE TERM POLICY THAT WERE EMPHASIZED, BY INTERVENTION FOR EXPERIMENT 1

Figure 12

NUMBER OF CORRECT ANSWERS ABOUT LIFE INSURANCE TERM POLICY THAT WERE NOT EMPHASIZED, BY INTERVENTION FOR EXPERIMENT 1



Participants in the make it salient and make it relevant prototypes scored 40% and 59% higher, respectively, than those in the control on questions about the concepts and terminology that they emphasized. The make it easy and make it timely prototypes, in contrast, improved comprehension by only 8% and 3%, respectively, over the control prototype. These results were not statistically significant.

For terms that were not emphasized, comprehension neither improved nor worsened across all the versions.

4.5.2 SECONDARY ANALYSIS

The analyses in this section were not the primary focus of our study. As a result, given that as the number of comparisons are increased, one is more likely to obtain statistically significant results due to chance, so the results in this section should be interpreted with caution.

4.5.2.1 Overall comprehension and financial literacy

Higher levels of financial literacy correlate with higher levels of comprehension. We did not find that any intervention significantly helped (or hindered) individuals with lower (or higher) levels of financial literacy.³

³ We utilized regression analysis to determine whether financial literacy moderated the effect of the interventions on comprehension. None of the interactions were statistically significant.

Figure 13

REGRESSION ANALYSIS FOR ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF FINANCIAL LITERACY ON COMPREHENSION

	Without financial literacy	With financial literacy	
	Coefficient (standard error)	Coefficient (standard error)	
Financial literacy		0.80** (0.06)	
Make it easy	0.22 (0.17)	0.26 (0.16)	
Make it timely	0.01 (0.16)	0.05 (0.15)	
Make it salient	1.36** (0.18)	1.34** (0.17)	
Make it relevant	1.88** (0.19)	1.93** (0.18)	
Constant	6.60** (0.12)	5.02** (0.16)	
Sample size	2,001	2,001	
Symbol indicates signific	cance level: ** p<0.01		

4.5.2.2 Robustness checks

We conducted a series of sensitivity tests. All the results displayed in this paper adjusted for demographics as they give better robustness for the main results. We have included the regression output, with and without the demographic variables, in the figures below.

Figure 14:

REGRESSION ANALYSIS FOR PRIMARY OUTCOME IN EXPERIMENT 1, OVERALL COMPREHENSION

	Without Covariates	With Covariates		
	Coefficient	Coefficient		
	(standard error)	(standard error)		
Maka it aasy	0.25	0.22		
wake it easy	(0.17)	(0.17)		
Maka it timaly	0.03	0.01		
Make It timely	(0.16)	(0.16)		
Maka it caliant	1.40**	1.36**		
	(0.18)	(0.18)		
Maka it ralavant	1.89**	1.88**		
Make It relevant	(0.19)	(0.19)		
Constant	6.58**	6.60**		
Constant	(0.11)	(0.12)		
Sample size	2,001	2,001		
Symbols indicate significance level: ** p<0.01				

4.6 SUMMARY

The following recaps our findings from Experiment 1:

- The make it salient and make it relevant interventions increased comprehension scores by 21% and 28%, respectively, compared with the control. These results were statistically significant.
- The make it easy intervention increased participants' comprehension scores by 3% compared with the control, while the make it timely intervention increased comprehension by 0.2%. These results were not statistically significant.
- Participants in the make it salient and make it relevant interventions scored 40% and 59% higher, respectively, than those in the control on questions about the concepts and terminology that were emphasized. These results were statistically significant.
- The make it easy intervention improved comprehension by 8%, while make it timely increased comprehension by 3%. These results were not statistically significant.

- For terms that were not emphasized, comprehension neither improved nor worsened across all the versions.
- Higher levels of financial literacy correlated with higher levels of comprehension. We did not find that any intervention significantly helped (or hindered) individuals with lower (or higher) levels of financial literacy.

Section 5: Experiment 2: Exploring Video, AI, and Messenger Identity for Presenting Product Information

In our second experiment, we tested whether presenting information via video, including Al-generated video, improved comprehension compared to using text. We used the same website prototype journey as in Experiment 1.

5.1 EXPERIMENT DESIGN

The experiment used five versions of the prototype website, which allowed us to compare text, video, and Al video messages and test whether using video improved on the best-performing version of the site from Experiment 1.

We sought to answer the following questions:

- Question 1: Can utilizing video help garner further gains in customer comprehension when included in our best-performing website prototype, make it relevant? To answer this question, we created two new website prototypes.
 - **The first prototype** used the successful techniques from Experiment 1. This version was equivalent to the make it relevant prototype from the first experiment.
 - **The second prototype** was equivalent to the make it relevant prototype above but included a human-featured video to explain the key information.
- Questions 2 and 3: Is video better at presenting information than text? And if so, can AI be leveraged just as well? To answer these questions, we created three new website prototypes.
 - The first prototype was a simple version of the website with a long-form text description, equivalent to the make it easy prototype used in Experiment 1.
 - The second prototype presented the same information as the first but used a video featuring a human actor to present the information.
 - The third prototype was equivalent to the second but used an AI-generated avatar based on the human actor's appearance to present the information.

5.2 EXPERIMENT PARTICIPANTS

We recruited 2,005 new participants residing in the U.S. Unlike the first experiment, this one did not contain a nationally representative sample due to challenges in sample recruitment. The demographic distribution of participants can be found in Appendix B. For additional details regarding the participants in this experiment, please review subsection 3.1.2 on study participants.

5.3 ASSESSING THE MESSENGER EFFECT

We tested how the messengers in the two video versions – the human-featured and the AI-featured – were perceived by measuring a range of characteristics and modeling the effect of these perceptions on comprehension and user experience. Participants were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed that the following characteristics described the subject on the screen:

- Similarity to the participant in appearance, personality, and cultural background
- Trustworthiness
- Credibility
- Likeability
- Expertise
- Unsettling⁴

5.4 CREATING THE HUMAN AND AI VIDEOS

The video featured a white male, age 38, with a North American accent, wearing glasses, a blue shirt, and a suit jacket. The script was an exact replica of the text information on the website.

The presenter was filmed against a plain white background, with his head and shoulders in the shot.

To create the AI version of the video, we used a headshot taken on-set from the video recording of the same human presenter in the same position. We then used software which animated the image as if it were narrating the same script. By doing so, we created a version of the video with an AI-generated messenger that was based on the messenger in the human-featured video.

In both cases, the video was presented on the first information page of the website before users progressed to the underwriting journey.

⁴ This characteristic is meant to measure the **uncanny valley** effect. The uncanny valley effect is a common unsettled feeling people experience when androids or humanoid robots and audio/visual simulations closely resemble humans in many respects but aren't quite convincingly realistic (Gillis, 2024).
Figure 15 VIDEO STILLS OF AI-FEATURED VIDEO (LEFT) AND HUMAN -FEATURED VIDEO (RIGHT)



5.5 RESULTS

Similar to the analysis section for Experiment 1, this analysis was divided into two sections: primary and secondary. Again, our main outcome of interest, overall comprehension, was examined in the primary section. Additional exploratory work is reserved for the secondary analysis section and should be interpreted with caution.

5.5.1 PRIMARY ANALYSIS

5.5.1.1 Overall comprehension

We first aimed to understand if video added any additional value to our best-performing website prototype from Experiment 1 (the make it relevant prototype). This comparison is important because it best fits the context of how carriers would most practically present this information in the real world. That is, the video is included as an additional method of engagement throughout the customer journey instead of standalone.

Figure 16



MEASURING THE IMPACT ON COMPREHENSION OF ADDING VIDEO TO THE MAKE IT RELEVANT PROTOTYPE (THE NUMBER OF CORRECT ANSWERS ABOUT LIFE INSURANCE TERM POLICY OUT OF 13⁵)

Figure 16 shows that adding video to our best-performing website increased customer comprehension by a significant 15%. As in Experiment 1, these estimates are adjusted by covariates that were observed to be imbalanced after randomization. The balance table can be found in Appendix C.

Next, we aimed to understand if video is better at presenting information over text and, if so, whether AI can be leveraged just as well. Given the higher investment required to create video over text-based content, if an AI-featured video performed just as well as a human counterpart, this would significantly cut down on costs as these videos take much less time to create.

To understand this relationship, we replicated the simplified website prototype from Experiment 1. This allowed us to understand the impact of text-only content on comprehension. Next, we replicated the simplified website, except the website's text content was utilized as the script for our videos. As a result, we had three versions compared for this analysis: 1) make it easy without video; 2) make it easy with human video; and 3) make it easy with Al video.

We took this approach because our main aim was to isolate the impact of media on comprehension. Keeping the digital journey as simple as possible, that is, eliminating the additional features that we saw in the previous

⁵ After Experiment 1, we reviewed the questions that constitute the comprehension test to determine if any failed to discriminate appropriately between low- and high-performing participants. We conducted an item analysis and identified two of the initial 15 questions that added no additional value for measuring comprehension. We removed those two questions and utilized the remaining 13 for the second experiment.

experiment aided comprehension, would help us understand to what extent we can attribute any gains in comprehension to information being relayed in video format instead of text. With this framework, we could then also isolate the impact of having different narrators on comprehension, that is, a human-featured presenter versus an Al-featured presenter.



Figure 17 MEASURING THE IMPACT OF MEDIA (TEXT VS. VIDEO) AND AI ON COMPREHENSION

The results in Figure 17 indicate that media selection alone does not impact comprehension of term life insurance. Customer comprehension is highest when information is presented in video format with a human presenter (7.45) and lowest when information is presented utilizing an Al video (7.04). However, these differences did not significantly differ from the "make it easy without video" prototype (7.35).

Last, while the human-featured video (7.45) slightly outperformed the AI avatar version (7.04), this result was not statistically significant.

Our original intent behind utilizing the make it easy prototype to understand the impact of video on comprehension, and then separately understanding the impact of a human-featured versus an AI-featured video, was to be able to isolate the effect of media type from other confounding influences as much as possible. However, the results indicated that the media type used, by itself, did not significantly improve comprehension. However, when video was added to the journey along with other behavioral science techniques, video led to gains in comprehension.

Given that the context in which video is added matters to improving comprehension, it is unclear whether the lack of statistical difference between the human-featured and the AI-featured video would be observed if they were added to the make it relevant prototype. Future research should explore this area further.

5.5.2 SECONDARY ANALYSIS

5.5.2.1 The messenger effect and comprehension

We were interested in exploring how perceptions about the messenger can potentially impact comprehension.

We examined a series of characteristics, ranging from trustworthiness to similarity in cultural background, by asking participants to what extent they agreed or disagreed that the characteristics described the presenter on the screen. The full list of characteristics analyzed is in Figure 18.

Figure 18

MEASURING THE IMPACT OF PERCEIVED MESSENGER CHARACTERISTICS ON COMPREHENSION (0-13) (REGRESSION COEFFICIENTS)



Perceived similarity in cultural background, and whether the messenger was perceived as credible and an expert, led to modest gains in comprehension. However, likeability and perceived similarity in appearance and personality reduced comprehension, echoing the findings of previous research in other contexts (see: Marandola *et al.*, 2020 and Elshout *et al.*, 2016). Last, experiencing the messenger as unsettling significantly reduced comprehension as well.

Next, we were interested in investigating if and how the AI avatar and human counterpart were viewed similarly or dissimilarly across participants. Figure 19 shows the degree to which participants agreed or disagreed that a particular characteristic described the presenter they were randomly assigned to view.





Figure 19

Symbols indicate significance level: + p<0.1, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01 Adjusted for covariates

Across all characteristics (except unsettling), participants viewed the human presenter as significantly more credible, expert, likeable, and more similar in appearance, personality, and cultural background to themselves. Interestingly, though, as our previous analysis showed, being viewed more favorably across all dimensions does not always lead to gains in comprehension. Indeed, in this example, increases in likeability and personality dampened comprehension. This worked in the favor of an AI messenger who was viewed as less likeable and less similar in personality to participants than the human messenger.

Although additional work is needed in this area, our initial results seem to support existing evidence about the importance of representation in financial products. Specifically, if the characteristic "cultural background" is viewed as a proxy for race and ethnicity, the results indicate that representation in videos may provide gains in comprehension. While the AI technology is not quite there in terms of being viewed favorably with respect to cultural background, future enhancements would allow for effective and efficient development of AI-centered videos that are representative of various racial and ethnic backgrounds, helping to reduce the life insurance comprehension gap.

5.5.2.2 Robustness checks

Below we include the regression output for the primary outcome, with and without the demographic variables, as a sensitivity test.

Figure 20

REGRESSION ANALYSIS FOR EXPERIMENT 2'S PRIMARY OUTCOME, OVERALL COMPREHENSION

	Without Covariates	With Covariates			
	Coefficient	Coefficient			
	(standard error)	(standard error)			
Make it relevant	1.09**	1.11**			
with video	(0.21)	(0.22)			
Constant	7.38**	7.23**			
Constant	(0.14)	(0.20)			
Sample size	771	771			
Symbol indicate significance level: **p<0.01					

43

Figure 21

REGRESSION ANALYSIS FOR EXPERIMENT 2'S PRIMARY OUTCOME, OVERALL COMPREHENSION

	Without Covariates	With Covariates			
	Coefficient	Coefficient			
	(standard error)	(standard error)			
Make it easy	0.23	0.10			
with human video	(0.21)	(0.21)			
Make it easy	-0.37*	-0.31			
with AI video	(0.21)	(0.20)			
Constant	7.63**	7.35**			
Constant	(0.13)	(0.24)			
Sample size	1,234	1,234			
Symbol indicates significan	ce level: +p<0.1, * p<0.05	ō, ** p<0.01			

5.6 SUMMARY

The following recaps our findings from Experiment 2:

- Adding video to our best-performing website (make it relevant) significantly increased customer comprehension (by 15%). However, adding video to the make it easy website did not have any effect.
- Viewing a messenger as credible, expert, and having a similar cultural background significantly increased user comprehension.
- Viewing a messenger as likeable, similar in appearance and personality, and unsettling decreased comprehension.
- The AI messenger was perceived as significantly more unsettling than the human messenger.
- The human messenger was perceived as significantly more credible, expert, likeable, and similar in appearance, personality, and cultural background to the viewer than was the AI messenger.

Section 6: Conclusions and Recommendations

We started this research knowing that information about life insurance in sales journeys is often too complex and challenging for customers to understand. Past research has estimated that only about a quarter of life insurance information provided is understood by current and prospective customers (LIMRA, 2020). This research aimed to help bridge the existing knowledge gap so that individuals can feel more comfortable making purchase decisions on their own, particularly given the rise of D2C.

Our research revealed that taking complex life insurance information and simplifying it alone does not significantly improve comprehension. Instead, simplification must be utilized alongside other behavioral science techniques. Specifically, we identified that increasing the salience of information through FAQs, icons, and attractive text improves comprehension of all content by 21%. Additionally, when focusing on the specific information utilizing these techniques, comprehension increased by 40%. This finding demonstrates the importance of strategically utilizing techniques such as FAQs to present critical information, as this information is much more likely to be understood than other information on a site that is shown in plain text.

Our research also found that adding positive friction to the journey significantly improved overall comprehension of all content by 28%, rising to 59% when focusing on content specifically added to create positive friction (referred to as the make it relevant intervention). This is an important finding for our industry as customer journey design often focuses on getting individuals through the sales journey as quickly as possible. This finding contradicts the typical focus of customer journey design that attempts to speed people through the process by removing friction wherever possible. Instead, helping customers to engage with important but difficult-to-understand concepts in content by making it relevant for them significantly improves understanding of that information. Figure 22 below summarizes the effective techniques that are included in the make it relevant prototype.

Figure 22 SUMMARY OF EFFECTIVE TECHNIQUES UTILIZED IN THE MAKE IT RELEVANT PROTOTYPE



We also observed that including content in video format improves comprehension. However, to acquire further gains in comprehension, choosing the right messenger is essential, as it was shown that doing so can provide additional uplift. For example, a speaker perceived by the viewer as sharing the same (or similar) cultural background is associated with higher levels of comprehension, whereas likeability, counterintuitively, dampens comprehension.

We acknowledge that creating video content can be cost-prohibitive, especially when compared to text. As a result, we delved into examining whether an AI avatar would work as a suitable messenger to replace a human narrator. Initial results suggest that it is too early to follow that path. The AI messenger was perceived as more unsettling and less credible than its human counterpart. However, it is possible that AI messengers can serve as a scalable alternative in customer journey design in the future as they are further improved.

While this research built upon existing theory and considered academic literature, and was rigorously designed and tested, this was only a simulation. The magnitude of these effects needs to be evaluated in the real world. One criticism levied against these experiments is that the impact of interventions is artificially heightened as participants are more likely to pay attention during these types of evaluations than they would in a real-world context. For example, 76% of participants said they watched the full video they were assigned, but it is unclear whether we would observe the same level of attention when customers are undergoing an actual life insurance purchase journey. Similarly, comprehension improved significantly when participants were encouraged via positive friction to engage with additional content on the website. Would real customers also become similarly engaged, or would they grow frustrated and drop off the site? Even if drop-offs occur, would those who remain and purchase result in fewer lapses over the long run, as they may be likelier to have a better understanding of the product and its value? Lastly, even though our work identified opportunities for insurers to improve customer comprehension, additional work is needed to further narrow the comprehension gap.

While there are still many open questions to resolve, our work should serve as a north star for insurers who aim to earn the trust and business of customers who need more than a help button to make such a complex and critical financial decision.



Click Here



Section 7: Acknowledgments

The authors' deepest gratitude goes to those without whose efforts this project could not have come to fruition: the volunteers who generously shared their wisdom, insights, advice, guidance, and arm's-length review of this study prior to publication. Any opinions expressed may not reflect their opinions, nor those of their employers. Any errors belong to the authors alone.

Project Oversight Group members:

Shaikh Mujtaba Ali, MBA Greg Fann, FSA, MAAA, FCA Anthony Ferraro, FSA, MAAA Bruce Friedland, FSA, MAAA Syed Muhammad Razi Hasnain, ASA, ACIA Winston He, FSA, MAAA Blake Hill, FSA, FCIA Ri Hao Kang, FSA, FCIA Jahanzeb Meghani, FSA, CERA, FCIA Zack Moore, FSA, MAAA, CERA Kevin Pledge, FSA, FIA Renee West, FSA, MAAA Tina Yang, FSA, MAAA, CERA Yifan Zhang, FSA At the Society of Actuaries Research Institute: Korrel Crawford, Senior Research Administrator Donovan Dotson, Market Research Analyst Dale Hall, FSA, MAAA, CERA, Managing Director of Research Ritesh Patel, DevOps Specialist Emily Rafferty, Director of Business Insights David Schraub, FSA, MAAA, CERA, Senior Practice Research Actuary Patrick Wiese, ASA, Modeling Researcher

Appendix A: Study Design Elements

A.1 COMPREHENSION TEST

- 1. Which of the below is correct regarding the "death benefit: for this policy?
 - a) It's the amount the customer would have to pay each month for the policy
 - b) It's the amount a person the customer selects would receive whenever they pass away
 - c) It's the amount a person the customer selects would receive if they pass away, but only within the time period they select
 - d) None of the above
- 2. What does 'term' mean for this policy?
 - a) The amount of time before the monthly payments change
 - b) The length of time the quote is valid for
 - c) The length of time the policy lasts for
 - d) None of the above
- 3. Which of the below is correct regarding what a "beneficiary" means for this policy?
 - a) One person who would receive the whole payout if the policy holder passes away
 - b) One or more people who would receive equal portions of the payout if the policy holder passes away
 - c) One person who would receive a specified portion of the payout if the policy holder passes away
 - d) One or more people who receive specified portions of the payout if the policy holder passes away
 - e) The information is not provided
- 4. Which of the below is correct regarding the monthly payments for this policy?
 - a) They stay the same until the policy holder passes away
 - b) They stay the same for a specified period of time or until the policy holder passes away, and then stop
 - c) They can change at any time until the policy holder passes away
 - d) They can change at any time, for a specified period of time and then they stop altogether
- 5. If you were to buy this policy, would you need to take a medical examination?
 - a) Yes, every customer is required to have an examination
 - b) No, no customers are ever required to have an examination
 - c) Yes, in some circumstances an examination may be required
 - d) The information is not given
- 6. Can this policy be traded back to the insurance company, in return for a cash payout?
 - a) Yes, the policy holder can cash in an amount in proportion to how many years are left on the policy
 - b) No, this policy cannot be traded for cash in any circumstances
 - c) Yes, the policy can be traded for cash, but only in some circumstances
 - d) The information is not given
- 7. Which of the following statements is true regarding how long a customer would be insured for?
 - a) The customer would be insured for their whole life
 - b) The customer would be insured for a specified period of time, but they can convert this to a Whole Life policy
 - c) The customer would be insured for a specified period of time only
 - d) The information is not given
- 8. In which of the following situations would a payout be given?
 - a) Only if the insured person dies
 - b) If the insured person dies or is diagnosed with a terminal illness

- c) If the insured person dies, is diagnosed with a terminal illness, or is diagnosed with a specified serious illness
- d) None of the above
- 9. How long is the quote valid for?
 - a) Unlimited time
 - b) 30 days
 - c) 60 days
 - d) The information is not given
- 10. What is "Term Life Insurance" best suited to cover people for?
 - a) To cover monthly expenses if someone loses their job
 - b) To make sure large temporary financial commitments like a mortgage or loan can be paid
 - c) To cover the costs of a funeral
 - d) To leave a financial legacy for the family regardless of temporary financial responsibilities
- 11. What is the most important way for people to decide how long to be covered for with this type of policy?
 - a) Plan to coincide closely with their retirement date
 - b) Decide when it when it would be nice for their family to receive a payout based on their retirement ages
 - c) Figure out how long their longest or most pressing financial commitment will last and choose a period close to that
 - d) Plan around when their investments will mature
 - e) None of the above
- 12. Which of the below is true?
 - a) The monthly payments decrease as the customer's mortgage decreases
 - b) The policy can be converted to Whole Life
 - c) The customer will need to complete the lifestyle questions again every few years
 - d) At the end of the term the monthly payments will continue unless the customer cancels the policy
 - e) None of the above
- 13. Which of the below is false regarding Whole Life policies?
 - a) The customer can convert their policy to Whole Life by calling the company
 - b) The customer may need to complete more questions to convert their policy to Whole Life
 - c) The customer may need to complete a medical examination to convert their policy to Whole Life
 - d) None of the above
- 14. Which of the below should a customer consider when deciding how much coverage to select?
 - a) The amount left to pay on a mortgage
 - b) Monthly household bills
 - c) Outstanding loans
 - d) All of the above
- 15. Imagine a customer who is looking for coverage for 30 years or more. Based on the product sold by this website, what would be the best type of policy for this customer?
 - a) Term policy
 - b) Whole Life policy
 - c) Critical Illness policy
 - d) None of the above

A.2 FINANCIAL LITERACY TEST

1. Suppose you had \$100 in a savings account, and the interest rate was 2% per year. After five years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow?

- a) More than \$102
- b) Exactly \$102
- c) Less than \$102
- d) Do not know
- e) Refuse to answer

2. Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After one year, how much would you be able to buy with the money in this account?

- a) More than today
- b) Exactly the same
- c) Less than today
- d) Do not know
- e) Refuse to answer

3. Buying shares in a single company usually provides a safer return than buying units in a managed share fund.

- a) True
- b) False
- c) Do not know
- d) Refuse to answer

A.3 MANIPULATION CHECKS

- 1. What color was the company's logo?
 - a) Black on a pink banner
 - b) White on a blue banner
 - c) Blue with no banner
 - d) None of the above

2. Which of the following activities did the site ask its customers?

- a) Whether they have dangerous hobbies such as skydiving or scuba diving
- b) Whether they take drugs
- c) Whether they have any driving convictions
- d) What they do for work
- 3. What was the code word shown in the site?
 - a) Insurance is good
 - b) Insurance is useful
 - c) Insurance is cool
 - d) Insurance is healthy
 - e) Insurance is great
 - f) Insurance is easy
 - g) Insurance is essential
 - h) Insurance is boring
 - i) I love insurance
 - j) Insurance is cheap

Appendix B: Study Participants

B.1 DEMOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTIONS FOR EXPERIMENT 1

Figure B1

EXPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS AND SAMPLE SIZE

			Overall (N=2,001)		
	Control	Make it easy	Make it timely	Make it salient	Make it relevant
n	428	429	432	358	354

Figure B2

DISTRIBUTION OF AGES ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

0' (N=	verall =2.001)
	Age
18-24	11.60%
25-34	18.70%
35-44	18.30%
45-54	15.10%
55-64	14.40%
65-74	16.00%
75-84	5.50%
85+	0.30%

Figure B3

DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2,001)				
Inco	ome			
Less than \$10,000	4.40%			
\$10,000 - \$19,999	6.25%			
\$20,000 - \$29,999	10.10%			
\$30,000 - \$39,999	9.65%			
\$40,000 - \$49,999	10.70%			
\$50,000 - \$59,999	10.60%			
\$60,000 - \$69,999	6.80%			
\$70,000 - \$79,999	8.35%			
\$80,000 - \$89,999	4.45%			
\$90-000 - \$99,999	5.75%			
\$100,000 - \$149,999	12.90%			
\$150,000 - \$199,999	5.85%			
\$200,000+	4.10%			

Figure B4

DISTRIBUTION OF GENDER ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall						
		(N=2,001)				
Gender						
Female Male Other (Non-binary/ third gender)						
52	.20% 46.8	0% 1.00	%			

Figure B5

DISTRIBUTION OF REGION ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2,001)					
Region					
	Northeast	South	Midwest	West	
	18.64%	40.38%	20.84%	20.14%	

Figure B6

DISTRIBUTION OF RACE ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall							
	(N=2,001)						
			Race				
	White	Black	American Indian	Asian	Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	Other	
	80.40%	13.10%	0.95%	3.40%	0.40%	1.75%	

Figure B7

DISTRIBUTION OF HISPANIC ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

	Overall			
	(N=2,001)			
Hispanic				
	No	Yes		
	89.80%	10.20%		

Figure B8

DISTRIBUTION OF RELATIONSHIP STATUS ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2,001)						
Relationship Status						
Never Currently Separated Divorced Widowed Prefer married matried						
33.38%	45.83%	1.90%	12.64%	5.15%	1.10%	

Figure B9

DISTRIBUTION OF RESIDENCE ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall				
	(N=2,001)			
	Residence			
Own residence (outright)	Own residence (mortgage)	Rent residence	Prefer not to say	
28.60%	32.60%	34.80%	4.00%	

Figure B10 DISTRIBUTION OF PARTICIPANTS WITH CHILDREN ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2 001)					
Children					
	Yes	No	Prefer not to say		
	54.87%	44.08%	1.05%		

Figure B11

DISTRIBUTION OF EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2,001)								
	Education							
	Less than High Some 2-year 4-year Professional high school school college degree degree degree							
	1.75%	19.89%	25.09%	10.84%	26.59%	13.34%	2.50%	

Figure B12

DISTRIBUTION OF INSURANCE OWNERSHIP ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall					
(N	(N=2,001)				
Insurance Ownership					
Has insurance	85.90%				
Life insurance (independent)	27.90%				
Life insurance (employer)	22.10%				
Health insurance (independent)	35.20%				
Health insurance (employer)	32.90%				
Other insurance	53.60%				
None	10.80%				
Prefer not to say	3.35%				

Figure B13

PROPORTION OF COMPREHENSION QUESTIONS ANSWERED CORRECTLY

Overall						
	(N=2,0	01)				
	Comprehensio	n Questions				
	Mean	Median [Min, Max]				
Question 1	0.521	1.00 [0, 1.00]				
Question 2	0.819	1.00 [0, 1.00]				
Question 3	0.299	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 4	0.618	1.00 [0, 1.00]				
Question 5	0.322	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 6	0.220	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 7	0.382	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 8	0.260	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 9	0.690	1.00 [0, 1.00]				
Question 10	0.387	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 11	0.461	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 12	0.423	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 13	0.352	0 [0, 1.00]				
Question 14	0.853	1.00 [0, 1.00]				
Question 15	0.618	1.00 [0, 1.00]				
Average Comprehension Score	7.23	7.00 [0, 15.0]				

Figure B14

PROPORTION OF FINANCIAL LITERACY QUESTIONS ANSWERED CORRECTLY

Overall (N=2,001)								
	Financial Literacy							
Question Question Question Total 1 2 3 Correct								
Mean	0.809	0.653	0.451	1.91				
Median [Min, Max]	1 [0,1]	1 [0,1]	0 [0,1]	2 [0,3]				

B.2 DEMOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTIONS FOR EXPERIMENT 2

Figure B15

EXPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS AND SAMPLE SIZE

Overall (N=2,005)							
	Make it relevant without video	Make it relevant with video	Make it easy without video	Make it easy with human video	Make it easy with Al video		
n	441	330	446	383	405		

Figure B16

DISTRIBUTION OF AGES ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

(N	Overall =2,005)
	Age
18-24	1.40%
25-34	5.89%
35-44	11.92%
45-54	12.02%
55-64	24.74%
65-74	30.02%
75-84	12.82%
85+	1.20%

Figure B17

DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

(N=2,005)				
Income				
Less than \$10,000	3.69%			
\$10,000-\$19,999	7.83%			
\$20,000-\$29,999	10.27%			
\$30,000-\$39,999	11.47%			
\$40,000-\$49,999	8.98%			
\$50,000-\$59,999	9.83%			
\$60,000-\$69,999	7.48%			
\$70,000-\$79,999	5.84%			
\$80,000-\$89,999	4.19%			
\$90-000-\$99,999	3.79%			
\$100,000-\$149,999	15.51%			
\$150,000-\$199,999	5.69%			
\$200,000+	5.44%			

Figure B18

DISTRIBUTION OF GENDERS ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2,005)						
	Gender					
Fem	ale Male	Other (Non-binary/ third gender)				
56.2	43.60%	0.20%				

Figure B19

DISTRIBUTION OF REGION ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall (N=2,005)				
Region				
	Northeast	South	Midwest	West
	20.00%	36.60%	23.50%	19.90%

Figure B20

DISTRIBUTION OF RACE ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

		Overall			
		(N=2,005)			
		Race			
W	Vhite Black	Americar Indian	n Asian	Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	Other
85	5.94% 8.38%	0.65%	2.54%	0.15%	2.34%

Figure B21

DISTRIBUTION OF HISPANICS ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall		
(N=2,005)		
Ethnicity		
No	Yes	
94.90%	5.10%	

Figure B22 DISTRIBUTION OF RELATIONSHIP STATUS ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

		Over	all			
		(N=2,0	005)			
Relationship Status						
Never married	Now married	Separated	Divorced	Widowed	Prefer not to say	
21.65%	49.33%	1.75%	17.41%	9.43%	0.45%	

Figure B23

DISTRIBUTION OF RESIDENCE ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

		Overall					
		(N=2,005)					
Residence							
	Own residence (outright)	Own residence (mortgage)	Rent residence	Prefer not to say			
	38.70%	32.97%	26.38%	1.95%			

Figure B24

DISTRIBUTION OF PARTICIPANTS WITH CHILDREN ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

	C	verall					
(N=2,005)							
Children							
	Yes	No	Prefer not to say				
!	59.25%	40.50%	0.25%				

Figure B25

DISTRIBUTION OF EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT

	Overall								
	(N=2,005)								
Education									
	Less than high school	High school	Some college	2-year degree	4-year degree	Professional degree	Doctorate	Prefer not to say	
	1.00%	17.76%	21.95%	12.02%	28.63%	15.76%	2.74%	0.15%	

Figure B26 DISTRIBUTION OF INSURANCE OWNERSHIP ACROSS ALL CONDITIONS

Overall							
(N	=2,005)						
Insurance Ownership							
Has insurance	91.80%						
Life insurance (independent)	36.10%						
Life insurance (employer)	19.90%						
Health insurance (independent)	44.90%						
Health insurance (employer)	30.90%						
Other insurance	65.00%						
None	6.63%						
Prefer not to say	1.60%						

Figure B27

PROPORTION OF COMPREHENSION QUESTIONS ANSWERED CORRECTLY

	Overall									
	(N=2,0	05)								
Comprehension Questions										
	Mean	Median [Min, Max]								
Question 1	0.66	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 2	0.90	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 3	0.52	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 4	0.69	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 5	0.58	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 6	0.37	0 [0, 1.00]								
Question 7	0.61	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 8	0.25	0 [0, 1.00]								
Question 9	0.63	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 10	0.71	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 11	0.67	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Question 12	0.40	0 [0, 1.00]								
Question 13	0.68	1.00 [0, 1.00]								
Average Comprehension Score	7.68	8.00 [0, 13.0]								

Figure B28

PROPORTION OF FINANCIAL LITERACY QUESTIONS ANSWERED CORRECTLY

		Overall						
(N=2,005)								
Financial Literacy								
	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Total Correct				
Mean	0.85	0.76	0.56	2.17				
Median [Min, Max]	1 [0, 1.00]	1 [0, 1.00]	1 [0, 1.00]	2 [0, 3.00]				

Appendix C: Analysis

C.1 BALANCE TABLE FOR EXPERIMENT 1

Figure C1

EXPERIMENT 1 BALANCE TABLE: COMPARING THE CONTROL (PROTOTYPE 1) AGAINST MAKE IT EASY (PROTOTYPE 2), MAKE IT TIMELY (PROTOTYPE 3), MAKE IT SALIENT (PROTOTYPE 4), AND MAKE IT RELEVANT (PROTOTYPE 5)

Overall											
				(N=2,0	001)						
				Balance	Table						
		Prototype	Prototype	Prototype	Prototype	Prototype	D1	D1	D1	D1	
		(P1)	(P2)	(P3)	(P4)	(P5)	P2	P3	P4	P5	
Variable	Variable Label	Proportion	Proportion	Proportion	Proportion	Proportion	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	
Age	18-24	0.12	0.14	0.12	0.10	0.10	0.55	0.79	0.42	0.38	
Age	25-34	0.18	0.21	0.16	0.20	0.19	0.27	0.61	0.31	0.55	
Age	35-44	0.19	0.18	0.19	0.16	0.20	0.59	0.81	0.19	0.68	
Age	45-54	0.13	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.18	0.33	0.35	0.16	0.06	
Age	55-64	0.16	0.13	0.14	0.16	0.14	0.24	0.59	0.92	0.41	
Age	65-74	0.16	0.17	0.19	0.14	0.14	0.79	0.31	0.34	0.44	
Age	75-84	0.05	0.04	0.06	0.07	0.05	0.08	0.64	0.71	0.46	
Age	85+	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.16	0.56	0.53	0.16	
Gender	Female	0.49	0.51	0.54	0.54	0.53	0.52	0.13	0.15	0.33	
Gender	Male	0.49	0.48	0.45	0.46	0.46	0.71	0.22	0.29	0.32	
Gender	Non-binary/ third gender	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.20	0.20	0.04	0.95	
Ethnicity	Hispanic	0.11	0.09	0.11	0.10	0.09	0.36	0.95	0.60	0.31	
Race	White	0.81	0.78	0.80	0.82	0.82	0.36	0.85	0.59	0.71	
Race	Black	0.14	0.16	0.13	0.11	0.11	0.45	0.65	0.33	0.29	
Race	American Indian	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.41	0.42	0.11	0.52	
Race	Asian	0.03	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.58	0.82	0.80	0.38	
Race	Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	1.00	0.18	0.32	0.47	
Race	Other	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.59	0.50	0.60	0.62	
Region	Northeast	0.21	0.14	0.19	0.20	0.20	0.01	0.45	0.67	0.80	
Region	South	0.40	0.45	0.38	0.44	0.35	0.14	0.60	0.24	0.20	
Region	Midwest	0.20	0.21	0.20	0.19	0.25	0.75	0.79	0.75	0.05	
Region	West	0.20	0.20	0.23	0.18	0.19	0.88	0.27	0.48	0.82	
Income	Less than \$10,000	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.03	0.06	0.24	0.50	0.91	0.16	
Income	\$10,000-\$19,999	0.06	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.07	0.76	0.80	0.62	0.40	
Income	\$20,000-\$29,999	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.09	0.09	0.67	0.86	0.38	0.41	
Income	\$30,000-\$39,999	0.11	0.07	0.11	0.11	0.08	0.02	0.95	0.79	0.15	
Income	\$40,000-\$49,999	0.12	0.09	0.10	0.12	0.10	0.18	0.42	0.95	0.31	
Income	\$50,000-\$59,999	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.14	0.07	0.92	0.86	0.18	0.12	
Income	\$60,000-\$69,999	0.05	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.21	0.34	0.28	0.33	
Income	\$70,000-\$79,999	0.07	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.11	0.71	0.93	0.75	0.12	
Income	\$80,000-\$89,999	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.06	0.86	0.85	0.24	0.54	
Income	200-000-200,000	0.05	0.08	0.05	0.03	0.07	0.03	0.90	0.34	0.12	
Income	\$100,000-\$149,999	0.13	0.12	0.12	0.16	0.12	0.67	0.64	0.19	0.77	
Income	\$150,000-\$199,999	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.04	0.06	0.33	0.39	0.10	0.46	
Income	\$200,000+	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.34	0.76	0.25	0.99	
Education	Less than high school	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.63	0.62	0.00	0.85	
Education	High school	0.19	0.21	0.22	0.21	0.16	0.46	0.44	0.66	0.19	
Education	some college	0.22	0.25	0.25	0.26	0.29	0.24	0.37	0.22	0.04	

Education	2-year degree	0.12	0.11	0.10	0.10	0.11	0.52	0.21	0.24	0.64	
Education	4-year degree	0.29	0.25	0.26	0.25	0.28	0.24	0.49	0.33	0.80	
Education	Professional degree	0.13	0.14	0.13	0.15	0.13	0.70	0.96	0.32	0.88	
Education	Doctorate	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.36	0.71	0.66	0.09	
Residence	Own residence (outright)	0.31	0.26	0.26	0.30	0.31	0.07	0.07	0.61	0.99	
Residence	Own residence (mortgage)	0.33	0.34	0.34	0.30	0.30	0.58	0.58	0.50	0.41	
Residence	Rent residence	0.32	0.35	0.36	0.35	0.35	0.32	0.21	0.43	0.37	
Residence	Prefer not to say	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.05	0.03	0.61	0.83	0.38	0.79	
Relationship	Never married	0.33	0.34	0.34	0.31	0.34	0.90	0.74	0.47	0.89	
Relationship	Now married	0.46	0.45	0.44	0.49	0.45	0.56	0.55	0.56	0.78	
Relationship	Separated	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.56	0.29	0.11	0.37	
Relationship	Divorced	0.14	0.15	0.12	0.12	0.11	0.71	0.33	0.46	0.19	
Relationship	Widowed	0.04	0.04	0.06	0.04	0.07	0.74	0.10	0.96	0.06	
Relationship	Prefer not to say	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.74	0.73	0.55	0.65	
Children	Yes	0.54	0.55	0.56	0.56	0.53	0.56	0.42	0.41	0.79	
Children	No	0.46	0.43	0.43	0.43	0.46	0.47	0.46	0.48	0.96	
Children	Prefer not to say	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.53	0.70	0.54	0.36	
Financial literacy	0-3 questions (Avg)	1.93	1.90	1.89	1.97	1.88	0.68	0.62	0.53	0.50	
Has insurance	Yes	0.87	0.83	0.85	0.89	0.85	0.13	0.41	0.55	0.40	
Device used	Desktop or laptop	0.51	0.47	0.51	0.52	0.48	0.21	0.89	0.89	0.34	
Device used	Tablet	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.57	0.55	0.60	0.88	
Device used	Mobile	0.42	0.47	0.44	0.42	0.45	0.12	0.62	0.86	0.34	
Device used	Other	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.32	0.32	0.32	

C.2 BALANCE TABLES FOR EXPERIMENT 2

Figure C2

EXPERIMENT 2 BALANCE TABLE: COMPARING MAKE IT RELEVANT (PROTOTYPE 1) AND MAKE IT RELEVANT WITH VIDEO (PROTOTYPE 2)

	Overall				
	(N=771)				
	Balance Tal	ble			
		Prototype	Prototype		
		1	2	P1 vs.	
Variable	Variable Label	(P1) Proportion	(PZ) Proportion	PZ n-value	
Δσe	18-24	0.02	0.02	0.81	
Age	25-34	0.02	0.02	0.01	
Age	35-44	0.10	0.12	0.29	
Age	45-54	0.13	0.12	0.25	
Age	55-64	0.24	0.24	0.83	
Але	65-74	0.33	0.24	0.43	
Age	75-84	0.14	0.12	0.38	
Age	85+	0.01	0.01	0.55	
Gender	Female	0.60	0.51	0.01	
Gender	Male	0.40	0.49	0.01	
Gender	Non-binary/third gender	0.00	0.00	-	
Ethnicity	Hispanic	0.05	0.04	0.14	
Race	White	0.88	0.86	0.48	
Race	Black	0.07	0.09	0.43	
Race	American Indian	0.01	0.01	0.73	
Race	Asian	0.02	0.03	0.84	
Race	Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0.00	0.00	0.16	
Race	Other	0.01	0.02	0.86	
Region	Northeast	0.21	0.19	0.52	
Region	South	0.36	0.38	0.52	
Region	Midwest	0.24	0.24	0.95	
Region	West	0.20	0.19	0.83	
Income	Less than \$10,000	0.04	0.04	0.79	
Income	\$10,000-\$19,999	0.08	0.08	0.90	
Income	\$20,000-\$29,999	0.10	0.09	0.68	
Income	\$30,000-\$39,999	0.11	0.11	0.98	
Income	\$40,000-\$49,999	0.09	0.08	0.59	
Income	\$50,000-\$59,999	0.08	0.12	0.10	
Income	\$60,000-\$69,999	0.09	0.04	0.01	
Income	\$70,000-\$79,999	0.05	0.07	0.55	
Income	\$80,000-\$89,999	0.04	0.07	0.12	
Income	\$90-000-\$99,999	0.04	0.04	0.63	
Income	\$100,000-\$149,999	0.14	0.15	0.74	
Income	\$150,000-\$199,999	0.07	0.04	0.07	
Income	\$200,000+	0.05	0.07	0.40	
Education	Less than high school	0.02	0.01	0.39	
Education	High school	0.18	0.15	0.28	

Education	Some college	0.17	0.24	0.02	
Education	2-year degree	0.12	0.11	0.63	
Education	4-year degree	0.32	0.30	0.65	
Education	Professional degree	0.16	0.18	0.48	
Education	Doctorate	0.04	0.02	0.06	
Residence	Own residence (outright)	0.42	0.40	0.59	
Residence	Own residence (mortgage)	0.33	0.31	0.53	
Residence	Rent residence	0.23	0.27	0.23	
Residence	Prefer not to say	0.02	0.02	0.81	
Relationship	Never married	0.21	0.24	0.24	
Relationship	Now married	0.50	0.48	0.50	
Relationship	Separated	0.01	0.02	0.65	
Relationship	Divorced	0.16	0.18	0.52	
Relationship	Widowed	0.11	0.08	0.14	
Relationship	Prefer not to say	0.00	0.00	0.73	
Children	Yes	0.60	0.57	0.40	
Children	No	0.39	0.43	0.36	
Children	Prefer not to say	0.00	0.00	0.32	
Financial literacy	0-3 questions (Avg)	2.21	2.13	0.27	
Has insurance	Yes	0.92	0.92	0.98	
Device used	Desktop or laptop	0.67	0.65	0.58	
Device used	Tablet	0.06	0.08	0.42	
Device used	Mobile	0.26	0.27	0.91	
Device used	Other	0.00	0.00	-	

Figure C3

EXPERIMENT 2 BALANCE TABLE: COMPARING MAKE IT EASY (PROTOTYPE 1) AGAINST MAKE IT EASY WITH HUMAN-FEATURED VIDEO (PROTOTYPE 2), AND AI-FEATURED VIDEO (PROTOTYPE 3)

	Overall								
		(N=1	,234)						
		Balanc	e Table						
		Prototype	Prototype	Prototype					
		1 (01)	2	3	P1 vs.	P1 vs.			
Variable	Variable Label	Proportion	(PZ) Proportion	Proportion	rz p-value	n-value			
Are	18-24	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.13	0.11			
Age	25-34	0.02	0.05	0.01	0.10	0.50			
Age	35-44	0.10	0.11	0.17	0.30	0.00			
Age	45-54	0.10	0.13	0.12	0.19	0.48			
Age	55-64	0.10	0.25	0.12	0.15	0.33			
Age	65-74	0.24	0.20	0.25	0.39	0.01			
Age	75-84	0.14	0.13	0.10	0.72	0.11			
Age	85+	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.09	0.52			
Gender	Female	0.61	0.52	0.55	0.01	0.02			
Gender	Male	0.39	0.32	0.44	0.01	0.10			
Gender	Non-binary/third gender	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.32	0.28			
Ethnicity	Hisnanic	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.63	0.15			
Race	White	0.87	0.85	0.83	0.51	0.10			
Race	Black	0.08	0.08	0.00	0.79	0.35			
Race	American Indian	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.75	0.28			
Race	Asian	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.10	0.25			
Race	Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	0.02	0.00	0.00	-	0.32			
Race	Other	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.79	0.80			
Region	Northeast	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.48	0.14			
Region	South	0.10	0.20	0.35	0.01	0.12			
Region	Midwest	0.22	0.22	0.25	0.87	0.27			
Region	West	0.19	0.25	0.17	0.05	0.44			
Income	Less than \$10.000	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.68	0.53			
Income	\$10.000-\$19.999	0.08	0.07	0.08	0.75	0.68			
Income	\$20,000-\$29,999	0.11	0.11	0.10	0.99	0.45			
Income	\$30,000-\$39,999	0.13	0.12	0.11	0.83	0.39			
Income	\$40,000-\$49,999	0.11	0.07	0.09	0.02	0.44			
Income	\$50,000-\$59,999	0.10	0.10	0.08	0.95	0.34			
Income	\$60,000-\$69,999	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.90	0.92			
Income	\$70,000-\$79,999	0.06	0.07	0.04	0.48	0.14			
Income	\$80,000-\$89,999	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.56	0.12			
Income	\$90-000-\$99,999	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.66	0.76			
Income	\$100,000-\$149,999	0.14	0.16	0.19	0.54	0.08			
Income	\$150,000-\$199,999	0.04	0.07	0.06	0.12	0.34			
Income	\$200,000+	0.05	0.04	0.06	0.53	0.85			
Education	Less than high school	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.86	0.80			
Education	High school	0.21	0.14	0.19	0.02	0.56			

Education	Some college	0.24	0.23	0.23	0.78	0.98	
Education	2-year degree	0.14	0.10	0.12	0.05	0.39	
Education	4-year degree	0.25	0.33	0.24	0.01	0.87	
Education	Professional degree	0.13	0.16	0.18	0.17	0.03	
Education	Doctorate	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.97	0.69	
Residence	Own residence (outright)	0.38	0.39	0.34	0.75	0.17	
Residence	Own residence (mortgage)	0.32	0.32	0.36	0.92	0.28	
Residence	Rent residence	0.28	0.25	0.29	0.30	0.90	
Residence	Prefer not to say	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.09	0.48	
Relationship	Never married	0.20	0.22	0.22	0.54	0.52	
Relationship	Now married	0.51	0.50	0.47	0.83	0.25	
Relationship	Separated	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.48	0.98	
Relationship	Divorced	0.16	0.17	0.20	0.55	0.12	
Relationship	Widowed	0.10	0.08	0.09	0.39	0.47	
Relationship	Prefer not to say	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.78	0.35	
Children	Yes	0.64	0.57	0.57	0.03	0.03	
Children	No	0.36	0.43	0.42	0.02	0.04	
Children	Prefer not to say	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.32	0.28	
Financial literacy	0-3 questions (Avg)	2.13	2.19	2.17	0.38	0.50	
Has insurance	Yes	0.92	0.91	0.91	0.43	0.59	
Device used	Desktop or laptop	0.63	0.64	0.63	0.62	0.96	
Device used	Tablet	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.59	0.58	
Device used	Mobile	0.29	0.27	0.28	0.38	0.75	
Device used	Other	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.91	0.32	



Give us your feedback! Take a short survey on this report.

Click Here



References

These third-party links are being provided for informational purposes only. The content in these third-party links do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the Society of Actuaries Research Institute, the Society of Actuaries, or the Education and Research Section. Neither the Society of Actuaries Research Institute, the Society of Actuaries, nor the Education and Research Section are responsible for the reliability, accuracy, or content of the third-party site(s). If you have questions about the content on such sites, please contact the site directly.

- Adams, P., & Hunt, S. (2013). Encouraging consumers to claim redress: evidence from a field trial. *Financial Conduct Authority Occasional Paper (2)*.
- AgentMethods. (2024). Insurance agent trends and statistics for 2024. <u>https://www.agentmethods.com/insurance-agent-trends-and-statistics</u>
- Ahern, S., Eckles, D., Good, N. S., King, S., Naaman, M., & Nair, R. (2007). Over-exposed? Privacy patterns and considerations in online and mobile photo sharing. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*, (pp. 357-366).
- Altman, M. (2012). Implications of behavioural economics for financial literacy and public policy. The Journal of Socio-Economics, 41(5), 677-690.
- Andrade, A. D., Bagri, A., Zaw, K., Roos, B. A., & Ruiz, J. G. (2010). Avatar-mediated training in the delivery of bad news in a virtual world. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *13*(12), 1415-1419. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2010.0108</u>
- Araujo, T. (2020). Conversational Agent Research Toolkit. An alternative for creating and managing chatbots for experimental research. *Computational Communication Research*, 2(1), 35-51. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.5117/CCR2020.1.002.ARAU</u>
- Barczuk, K. (2015). The usefulness of readability formulas in the insurance industry. *Olsztyn Economic Journal, 10*(4), 338-351.
- Basiouny, A. (2024, May 28). Why representation matters in Marketing. Knowledge at Wharton. https://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article/why-representation-matters-in-marketing/
- Battersby, M., & Hovard, P. (2020). How to Sell Sprouts: Lessons in Digital Persuasion From the Life Insurance Industry. *The Behavioral Economics Guide*, pp. 132-141.
- Behavioural Insights Team. (2018). A behavioral approach to managing money: ideas and results from the financial capability lab. Retrieved from Behavioural Insights Team: <u>https://www.bi.team/publications/a-behavioural-approach-to-managing-money-ideas-and-results-from-the-financial-capability-lab/</u>
- Belmont, J. (2023, October 5). 6 Skills writers need to hone amid the AI Boom. *Forbes*. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesagencycouncil/2023/09/12/6-skills-writers-need-to-hone-amid-the-ai-boom/?sh=2a3271145afc</u>
- Bertrand, M., & Morse, A. (2011). Information disclosure, cognitive biases, and payday borrowing. *The Journal of Finance, 66*(6), 1865-1893.
- Borja, C. (2023, September 11). Myth-busting with Cynthia: Are behavioral science, psychology, behavioral economics, and nudge theory the same?. The Decision Lab. <u>https://thedecisionlab.com/insights/society/myth-busting-with-cynthia1</u>

- Bradfield, A., Caulfield, T., Charles, D., Granzin, P., Lerch, M., McDonnell, J., McLaughlin, K., Moore, D., Parsons, C., & Wallner, R. (2024, May). Redesigning the Life Insurance Underwriting Journey with Behavioral Science | SOA. <u>https://www.soa.org/resources/research-reports/2024/redesign-life-ins-underwriting/</u>
- Chavda, J. (2024, March 26). More Americans are getting news on TikTok, bucking the trend seen on most other social media sites. Pew Research Center. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/short-read/2023/11/15/more-americans-are-getting-news-on-tiktok-bucking-the-trend-seen-on-most-other-social-media-sites/</u>
- Cheek, A. (2010). Defining plain language. Clarity, 64, 5-15.
- Chen, J. S., Le, T., & Florence, D. (2021). Usability and responsiveness of artificial intelligence Chatbot on online customer experience in e-retailing. *International journal of retail and distribution management, 49*(11), 1512-1531. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-08-2020-0312</u>
- Cheung, K. L., Schwabe, I., Walthouwer, M. J., Oenema, A., Lechner, L., & De Vries, H. (2017). Effectiveness of a video-versus text-based computer-tailored intervention for obesity prevention after one year: a randomized controlled trial. *international journal of environmental research and public health*, 14(10), 1275. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14101275</u>
- Cialdini, R. B. (2001). The science of persuasion. Scientific American, 284(2), 76-81.
- Ciechanowski, L., Przegalinska, A., Magnuski, M., & Gloor, P. (2019). In the shades of the uncanny valley: An experimental study of human–Chatbot interaction. *Future generation computer systems, 92*, 539-548. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2018.01.055
- Coe, N. B., Belbase, A., & Wu, A. Y. (2016). Overcoming barriers to life insurance coverage: A behavioral approach. *Risk Management and Insurance Review*, 19(2), 307-336.
- Cox, A. L., & Gould, S. J. (2016). Design Frictions for Mindful Interactions: The Case for Microboundaries. *Extended* Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI EA '16, 1389-1397.
- Craik, F. I. (2002). Levels of processing: Past, present . . . and future? *Memory, 10*(5/6), 305-318.
- Deslauriers, L., McCarty, L. S., Miller, K., Callaghan, K., & Kestin, G. (2019). Measuring actual learning versus feeling of learning in response to being actively engaged in the classroom. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(39), 19251-19257.
- Elshout, M., Elsen, M., Leenheer, J., Loos, M., & Luzak, J. (2016). Study on Consumers' Attitudes Towards Terms Conditions (T&Cs) Final Report. *Report for the European Commission, Consumers, Health, Agriculture and Food Executive Agency (Chafea) on behalf of Directorate-General for Justice and Consumers.*
- Fitzpatrick, K. K., Darcy, A., & Vierhile, M. (2017). Delivering Cognitive Behavior Therapy to Young Adults With Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety Using a Fully Automated Conversational Agent (Woebot): A Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Ment Health, 4(2), e19.
- FlexMR. (2020, May 22). Behavioural Economics vs behavioural science: A comparison. Medium. <u>https://flexmr.medium.com/behavioural-economics-vs-behavioural-science-a-comparison-ec0194d4806f</u>
- Garavito, F., Hunt, S., & Kelly, D. (2015). Message Received? The Impact of Annual Summaries, Text Alerts and Mobile Apps on Consumer Banking Behaviour. *Financial Conduct Authority Occasional Paper (10)*.

- García, M. J. R. (2013). Financial education and behavioral finance: new insights into the role of information in financial decisions. Journal of Economic Surveys, 27(2), 297-315.
- Gillis, A. S. (2024, February 6). What is the uncanny valley. WhatIs? https://www.techtarget.com/whatis/definition/uncanny-valley
- Go, E., & Sundar, S. (2019). Humanizing chatbots: The effects of visual, identity and conversational cues on humanness perceptions. *Computers in human behavior*(97), 304-316. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.01.020</u>
- Halko, A. (2023, October 15). 2023 report: Marketing in the Software, Saas, & technology industry. Insivia. <u>https://www.insivia.com/2023-saas-marketing-report/</u>
- Hariton, E., & Locascio, J. J. (2018). Randomised controlled trials the gold standard for effectiveness research: Study design: randomised controlled trials. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology, 125(13), 1716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15199</u>
- Harley T. The Psychology of Language: From Data to Theory. Hove: Psychology Press; 2001.
- Harrell, F. (2017, February 5). Statistical Thinking A Litany of Problems With p-values. Statistical Thinking. <u>https://www.fharrell.com/post/pval-litany/</u>
- Hartley, D., Paulson, A., & Powers, K. (2017). What Explains the Decline in Life Insurance Ownership? *Economic Perspectives*.
- Hauk, O., Davis, M. H., Ford, M., Pulvermüller, F., & Marslen-Wilson, W. D. (2006). The time course of visual word recognition as revealed by linear regression analysis of ERP data. *Neuroimage*, 30(4), 1383-1400. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.11.048</u>
- Hoffrage, U., Lindsey, S., Hertwig, R., & Gigerenzer, G. (2000). Communicating statistical information. *Science*, 290(5500), 2261-2262.
- How advisors are tapping into TikTok and Reddit. Putnam Investments. (2021, August). <u>https://www.putnam.com/advisor/content/advisorTechTips/3455-how-advisors-are-tapping-into-tiktok-and-reddit</u>
- Iqbal, M. (2024, April 18). TikTok Revenue and Usage Statistics (2024) Business of Apps. Business of Apps. Retrieved May 9, 2024, from <u>https://www.businessofapps.com/data/tik-tok-statistics/</u>
- Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, fast and slow. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux.
- Kane, J. V., & Barabas, J. (2019). No harm in checking: Using factual manipulation checks to assess attentiveness in experiments. American Journal of Political Science, 63(1), 234-249.
- Kelley, P. G., Cesca, L. B., & Cranor, L. F. (2010). Standardizing privacy notices: an online study of the nutrition label approach. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human factors in Computing Systems*, (pp. 1573-1582).
- Kim, W. B., & Hur, H. J. (2023). What Makes People Feel Empathy for AI Chatbots? Assessing the Role of Competence and Warmth. International journal of human-computer interaction, 1-14. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2023.2219961</u>

- Konya-Baumbach, E., Biller, M., & von Janda, S. (2023). Someone out there? A study on the social presence of anthropomorphized chatbots. *Computers in human behavior*, 139. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107513</u>
- Krauss, A. (2021). Assessing the overall validity of randomised controlled trials. International Studies in the Philosophy of Science, 1-24.
- Landry, K. A. (2023, March 31). *Think Fast: Behavioral Economics and Benefits Messaging*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.limra.com/en/research/research-abstracts-public/2023/think-fast-behavioral-economics-and-benefits-messaging/</u>
- LIMRA & Life Happens. (2024, April 24). 2024 Insurance Barometer Study. (2024, April 24). <u>https://www.limra.com/en/research/research-abstracts-public/2024/2024-insurance-barometer-study/</u>
- LIMRA. (2021, December 3). Annual U.S. Life Insurance Sales Growth Highest Since 1983. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.limra.com/en/newsroom/news-releases/2022/limra-2021-annual-u.s.-life-insurance-sales-growth-highest-since-1983/#:~:text=LIMRA%20is%20forecasting%20whole%20life</u>
- LIMRA. (2020). What consumers don't know about Life. In LIMRA MarketFacts: Vol. Number 2, 2020. <u>https://www.limra.com/siteassets/newsroom/help-protect-our-families/consumer-insights/2021/january/marketfacts_what-consumers-dont-know-anout-life-insurance.pdf</u>
- Marandola, G., Proestakis, A., Lourenço, J. S., & van Bavel, R. (2020). Applying behavioural insight to encourage consumer switching of financial products. *Publications Office of the European Union*.
- Martin, S., & Marks, J. (2019). Messengers: Who we listen to, who we don't, and why. London, UK: Random House.
- McElvaney, T., Lunn, P., & McGowan, F. (2018). Do consumers understand PCP car finance? An experimental investigation. *ESRI*.
- McGarry, B. E., Temkin-Greener, H., Chapman, B. P., Grabowski, D. C., & Li, Y. (2016). The impact of consumer numeracy on the purchase of long-term care insurance. *Health services research*, *51*(4), 1612-1631.
- McQueen, A., Kreuter, M. W., Kalesan, B., & Alcaraz, K. I. (2011). Understanding narrative effects: the impact of breast cancer survivor stories on message processing, attitudes, and beliefs among African American women. *Health Psychology*, *30*(6), 674.
- Miller, E. J., Foo, Y. Z., Mewton, P., & Dawel, A. (2023). How do people respond to computer-generated versus human faces? A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Computers in Human Behavior Reports*.
- Murdock, B. B. (1962). The Serial Position Effect of Free Recall. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 64(5), 482.
- O'Donoghue, T., & Rabin, M. (1999). Doing it now or later. American Economic Review, 89(1), 103-124.
- OECD/INFE, 2011. Measuring Financial Literacy: Questionnaire and Guidance Notes for Conducting an Internationally Comparable Survey of Financial Literacy. OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Passera, S. (2018). Flowcharts, swimlanes, and timelines: alternatives to prose in communicating legal–bureaucratic instructions to civil servants. *Journal of Business and Technical Communication*, *32*(2), 229-272.
- Peters, E., Klein, W., Kaufman, A., Meilleur, L., & Dixon, A. (2013). More is not always better: intuitions about effective public policy can lead to unintended consequences. *Social issues and policy review*, 7(1), 114-148.

- Pitthan, F., & De Witte, K. (2021). Puzzles of insurance demand and its biases: A survey on the role of behavioural biases and financial literacy on insurance demand. Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance, 100471.
- Plain Numbers. (2021). Plain Numbers Project: Initial trials report [White paper]. <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5f7f7734f7e47f08bc961018/t/60dcd93f4e4c433c2bb05da5/16250</u> <u>86280079/Plain Numbers Research Report.pdf</u>
- Rothman, A. J., Bartels, R. D., Wlaschin, J., & Salovey, P. (2006). The strategic use of gain-and loss-framed messages to promote healthy behavior: How theory can inform practice. *Journal of communication, 56*, 202-220.
- Rubin, A., Livingston, N. A., Brady, J., Hocking, E., Bickmore, T., Sawdy, M., Simon, S. (2022). Computerized relational agent to deliver alcohol brief intervention and referral to treatment in primary care: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of General Internal Medicine, 30*, 70-77. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-021-06945-9</u>
- Sidlauskiene, J., Joye, Y., & Auruskeviciene, V. (2023). Al-based chatbots in conversational commerce and their effects on product and price perceptions. *electronic markets, 33*(1), 1-21. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-023-00633-8</u>
- Slovic, P., & Peters, E. (2006). Risk perception and affect. Current directions in psychological science, 15(6), 322-325.
- Sweeney, J. (2024, April 25). TikTok Trends 2024. Public Sector Marketing Institute. https://publicsectormarketingpros.com/tiktok-trends-2024/
- Swiss Re Institute. (2018). Life underinsurance in the US: Bridging the USD 25 trillion mortality protection gap. Zurich, Switzerland: Swiss Re Institute.
- Trapani, F., & Walmsley, S. (1981). Five Readability Estimates: Differential Effects of Simplifying a Document. *Journal of Reading*, 24(5), 398-403.
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases: Biases in judgments reveal some heuristics of thinking under uncertainty. *Science*, *185*(4157), 1124-1131.
- Wang, L. C., & Fodness, D. (2010). Can avatars enhance consumer trust and emotion in online retail sales? *Int. J. Electronic Marketing and Retailing, 3*(4), 341-362.
- Weedige, S., Ouyang, H., Gao, Y., & Liu, Y. (2019). Decision Making in Personal Insurance: Impact of Insurance Literacy. *Sustainability*, 6795.
- Welch, G. B., & Burnett, C. T. (1924). Is Primacy a Factor in Association-Formation. *The American Journal of Psychology*, *35*(3), 396-401.
- Wilson, E. J., & Sherrell, D. L. (1993). Source effects in communication and persuasion research: A meta-analysis of effect size. *Journal of the academy of marketing science*, *21*, 101-112.
- Woodward, M. (2024, March 7). TikTok user statistics 2024: Everything you need to know. SearchLogistics. <u>https://www.searchlogistics.com/learn/statistics/tiktok-user-statistics/</u>
- World Economic Forum. (2017, August 4). Retrieved from The insurance sales gap is widening. This is how we can close it: <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2017/08/this-is-the-most-effective-way-to-close-the-insurance-sales-gap/</u>
- Wu, T., Dufford, A. J., Mackie, M. A., Egan, L. J., & & Fan, J. (2016). The Capacity of Cognitive Control Estimated from a Perceptual Decision Making Task. *Scientific reports*, 6.

Yadav, A., Phillips, M. M., Koehler, M. J., Hilden, K., & Dirkin, K. H. (2011). If a picture is worth a thousand words is video worth a million? Differences in affective and cognitive processing of video and text cases. *Journal of computing in higher education*(23), 15-37. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-011-9042-y
About the Society of Actuaries Research Institute

Serving as the research arm of the Society of Actuaries (SOA), the SOA Research Institute provides objective, datadriven research bringing together tried and true practices and future-focused approaches to address societal challenges and your business needs. The institute provides trusted knowledge, extensive experience, and new technologies to help effectively identify, predict, and manage risks.

Representing the thousands of actuaries who help conduct critical research, the SOA Research Institute provides clarity and solutions on risks and societal challenges. The institute connects actuaries, academics, employers, the insurance industry, regulators, research partners, foundations and research institutions, sponsors, and non-governmental organizations, building an effective network which provides support, knowledge, and expertise regarding the management of risk to benefit the industry and the public.

Managed by experienced actuaries and research experts from a broad range of industries, the SOA Research Institute creates, funds, develops, and distributes research to elevate actuaries as leaders in measuring and managing risk. These efforts include studies, essay collections, webcasts, research papers, survey reports, and original research on topics impacting society.

Harnessing its peer-reviewed research, leading-edge technologies, new data tools and innovative practices, the Institute seeks to understand the underlying causes of risk and the possible outcomes. The Institute develops objective research spanning a variety of topics with its <u>strategic research programs</u>: aging and retirement; actuarial innovation and technology; mortality and longevity; diversity, equity and inclusion; healthcare cost trends; and catastrophe and climate risk. The Institute has a large volume of <u>topical research available</u>, including an expanding collection of international and market-specific research, experience studies, models, and timely research.

> Society of Actuaries Research Institute 8770 W Bryn Mawr Ave, Suite 1000 Chicago, IL 60631 www.SOA.org